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PIONEER WORK

The Types of Work that Shaped the R.M. of St. Clements
1880-1940



This project is about work. It is specifically about work in the Rural Municipality of
St. Clements during its formative years — 1880-1940. It is about work because it’s mostly what
we do, even now, and because the work we do shapes and forms the communities in which we
live. And in any community’s early years, work takes on special significance — for it was often
the very thing that “made” the community.

This project has been developed based on suggestions and models proposed to Manitoba
communities by the Province’s Historic Resources Branch (HRB). The primary initiative is
called “Notable People,” and several communities besides St. Clements have undertaken such
projects over the past several years.

As noted in the branch’s introductory notes on this kind of project: “A community’s historical
evolution is defined by a series of events—the arrival of the first settlers, the construction of
the first store, the arrival of the railway, the development of an industry—and by the actions of
the people living there. These activities, ranging from the humble day-to-day routines that
define any life, to the inspiring and dramatic acts that altered or informed the course of history,
are at the very core of a community’s past and of its character.

“However, the lives and stories of the hundreds, even thousands, of individuals that together
define any community, are too complex to put into a meaningful and cogent story. For heritage
purposes this kind of challenge is usually met by identifying a few key people that can be
shown to sum up significant aspects of local history. These people are the ones that can most
effectively stand in for the others, whose lives and stories can be said to define important
qualities and themes of the whole community. And these stories are never just the grand and
memorable (important as they are); they are also the small and modest, the lives that often add
the subtle colours and fill in the gaps for a more complete expression of a community’s past.”

This particular project, “Pioneer Work,” has also followed HRB recommendations regarding
the kinds of research, analysis and communication that help define the list of individuals
whose work lives are presented here. That work began with a careful review of our major local
history, The East Side of the Red, with particular attention to the 337 entries in the family
history section. Through the methodical analytical and evaluation processes that HRB



designed, the current project builds on that earlier inventory. Anyone interested in those
preliminary materials should consult the St. Clements Heritage Group.

Some of the occupations encountered on the following pages do not exist anymore. Others
have been transformed by new technologies. All are interesting. The goal of this project is to
bring these old occupations and avocations to life. This has been accomplished by using the
very texts developed by descendants for The East Side of the Red, with an eye to those that
contain useful information and even delightful anecdotes and character observations — these
people after all were not just their jobs; they were living, breathing individuals. We have also
tried as much as possible to include images of the people, so that their stories can be made
even richer with a real sense of the person at hand. And, finally, where it seems necessary or
relevant, we have developed additional textual asides that provide more detail about how
certain of the occupations and avocations were undertaken — via “A Day in the Life” sidebar.

There are 33 entries that follow, providing a good cross-section of work life in St. Clements
nearly 100 years ago. Selections are presented in a slight chronological order, so that readers
can get a sense of the changing work world of the community. In a few instances we have been
able to add, via a sidebar, another individual who shared a particular occupation, which can
add another sensibility to that story. We have also endeavoured to highlight women, whose
occupations and hobbies were often overlooked in the historical record. Additional care in the
selections ensures that nearly all of the communities that make up St. Clements are represented
in the selections: East Selkirk, Gonor and Narol, Libau, Walkleyburg, Poplar Point, Grand
Marais and Lockport. Please see the following map for locations.

Before exploring the individual entries, there are three important contextual pieces to present
first. These will provide some additional background that will make many of the individual
texts more meaningful:

e Aboriginal Peoples of St. Clements
e Places of Work
e The Pioneer Life

List of Subjects

Thomas Bunn
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Arni Anderson
Henry Nelson
Murdoch McLeod
Holubowich Family
J.J. Erskine

James Oastler
Gordon Barron Burnett
George Gowrilu
Peter Pewarchuk
Diengot Recksiedler
John Bunio

John Rokosh
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Aboriginal Peoples of St. Clements

The Province of Manitoba passed the necessary legislation granting the formation of the
Municipality of St. Clements on July 7, 1883, and proclaimed the legislation effective on
December 22, 1883. The first elections in St. Clements were held in early January 1884, with
the first Council being made up of Reeve Robert Hay and councillors Louis Vandal, R.
McDonald, A. McDonald, John Clouston, Claude Macfie and Robert Cowan.

Thus legally we mark 1884 as the birth date of the municipality. And so rightly mark that date
on our calendars.

But it is essential to note that the date of 1884 does not actually mark the origins of this area as
a settled place. It does not acknowledge the Aboriginal peoples who lived here for many
centuries before that date. And it certainly does not suggest the fate of those people, for whom
1884 might be seen as the beginning of the end of their own distinctly productive period of
activity in the St. Clements/St. Andrews region. This following brief overview provides that
context.

Aboriginal peoples—thought mainly to be Saulteaux and Cree—made the St. Clements/St.
Andrews area a major part of their seasonal hunting territory for centuries. The abundant fish
in the Red River and Lake Winnipeg, the ready access to berries and fruits, and the bountiful
wild game—ducks, geese, deer, moose—made this area a prime destination for periodic
occupation. Of special interest is the recent discovery of a distinct Aboriginal farming history
at Lockport, at this point the only Manitoba example of this important “economic” activity.

It is known through archaeological evidence that several thousand years before the arrival of
European immigrants, many Aboriginal nations in North America had developed sophisticated
farming methods. Four centuries before Europeans settled beside the Red River, Aboriginal
peoples were agricultural pioneers in the valley. Recent archaeological digs reveal a thriving
Aboriginal farming site on the east bank of the Red at Lockport, with a focus on the production
or corn, or maize.

It made sense to locate farm gardens near the river. The Lockport site had a nutrient-rich layer
of new soil left behind by receding flood waters each spring. Clearing the land of tall, prairie
grasses, trees, and brush required the quarrying and fashioning of stone knives and axes.

“Indian Settlement at Red River,” from G. J.

Mountain’s journal of 1846. An idealized
view of the Aboriginal settlement at St.
Peter’s. (Courtesy Archives of Manitoba)

An Aboriginal farmer with his team of oxen,
likely at St. Peter's Settlement. (Courtesy
Archives of Manitoba) By 1850 there were
about 500 residents with 230 acres under
cultivation at St. Peter’s.



Wooden digging tools were used to break up the soil. Hoes made of wood and the shoulder
blade of the bison were used to till the soil. Corn was planted in small hillocks and arranged in
rows one metre apart. Beans, squash, and flowers may also have been grown. The Aboriginal
farmers at Lockport developed a strain of corn that could mature in the typical 100-day
growing season. The adaptation of corn to the long-day, short-season environment of the Red
River Valley testifies to the selective plant breeding skills of these first farmers.

St. Peter’s Reserve

So, by the time that the first European agricultural settlers arrived in Western Canada—the
Selkirk Settlers, at what is now Winnipeg, in 1812—the Aboriginal community at St.
Clements/St. Andrews was well established, and highly successful. So successful in fact that
the chief at the time, Peguis, was able to provide sustenance to the newcomers to ensure their
survival in this new and inhospitable land.

It would seem that Chief Peguis recognized the profound changes that were about to alter his
tribe’s way of life, and so in 1817 signed a treaty granting his people the land running north
from Sugar Point. This became the areca of St. Peter’s Reserve.

Soon, Anglican missionaries were taking an interest in the affairs of this “new” Aboriginal
settlement. The first, Reverend William Cockran, persuaded Chief Peguis to engage in the first
permanent Aboriginal agricultural settlement at Netley Creek, in 1832. And by 1834, with the
main community moved to the mouth of Cook’s Creek, a church, school, and several farms
were established. A windmill was even added to the local agricultural infrastructure.

During the 1860s the Aboriginal community at St. Peter’s began to fear for the security of their
land titles, given the pressure from an ever-growing influx of European settlers to the south, as
well as on the west side of the Red. Much of the St. Peter’s Reserve was still undeveloped, and
it wasn’t long before the members of the settlement were being enticed to sell their land at
bargain prices, by one method or another.

By the early 1880s St. Peter’s Reserve was nearly surrounded by settlers, business and
industry. In April of 1905, the St. Peters community was putting up many miles of wire
fencing to prevent trespassers from intruding and to protect their haylands. But the advance of
European settlement was inexorable. And so by 1907 all of the St. Peter’s original
landholdings were as good as taken away — including all the valuable farms. Any hope of

The community erected a fine stone church,
St. Peter’s Dynevor Anglican, in 1852-1854.
This church is now a designated Provincial

Heritage Site.



retaining the land was finally lost in 1916, when the people of St. Peter’s were relocated to
new reserves further north — at Fisher River and Peguis.

Brokenhead Ojibway Nation

It is supposed that the Ojibway people who settled at Brokenhead, a First Nation community in
the northern half of the R.M. of St. Clements (and under their own jurisdiction) were allied
with those who followed Chief Peguis to this area in about 1792. It is said that the Brokenhead
people wanted to be away from the white praying masters (missionaries) who were always
telling them they were bad people and that their prayers and dances and all their old ways were
not good. Finally, the families of two leading brothers who came from the east with Peguis
canoed to the mouth of the river where they had camped the first night they arrived many years
before. There the river was full of fish and all along the banks of the river grew the maple trees
from which they made maple sugar. The bush was filled with berries and with all kinds of
animals that were good for food. Many water birds nested close by. There were many marshes
filled with muskrats and the river and many creeks were filled with beaver.

Brokenhead Reserve No. 4 was formed in 1871 with the signing of Treaty No. 1 at Lower Fort
Garry. The population at the time was 425 members, with 10,920 acres of land. The chief at
that time was Na-sha-ke-penais.

Notable First Nations People

The approach used for this project, in which selections have been made from The East Side of
the Red, does not allow for the inclusion of many First Nations peoples. Most of the people
associated with Chief Peguis and the St. Peter’s Reserve were gone by 1905, and so their
descendants’ stories are now more aligned with communities at Peguis First Nation and Fisher
River First Nation. And the residents of Brokenhead Ojibway Nation are technically not part of
the R.M. of St. Clements and so were not typically included in the local history book, whose
focus is on the R.M.

But there are two individuals whose biographies are in The East Side of the Red, and so we are
able to present those here: Peguis and Samuel Grisdale.

An Ojibway encampment.



Peguis
Chief of the St. Clements Saulteaux

Peguis (also spelled Be-gwa-is/ Pegeois/ Pegouisse/ Picois; which translated into English is the
‘Destroyer of Beaver Lodges’) was born around 1774, the son of a Saulteaux woman and a
French-Canadian fur trader. Peguis’s people were at that time living in the Sault Ste.-Marie
area of what is now Ontario. In about 1792, at the age of about 18 years, Peguis led a band of
about 200 people into what is now Manitoba, to the southern area of Lake Winnipeg.

Chief Peguis welcomed the first settlers brought to the Red River area by Lord Selkirk in 1812,
and is given credit for aiding and defending them during their difficult first years. On 18 July
1817 Peguis was one of five Saulteaux and Cree chiefs who signed a treaty with Lord Selkirk
to provide an area for European settlement purposes. In exchange, each tribe was to receive
annual payments of 100 Ibs. of tobacco. This land treaty was the first to be signed in western
Canada. The treaty granted Peguis’s people the land running north from Sugar Point, in an area
that became St. Peter’s Reserve.

Chief Peguis was described as short in stature, with a strong, well-knit frame, and the voice of
an orator. His hair hung in two long plaits studded with brass ornaments, his breast decorated
with medals.

Peguis welcomed Anglican missionaries to the Reserve in 1832, and encouraged his people to
adopt European-style farming practices. The St. Peter’s Settlement was an impressive example
of Aboriginal farming settlement—with a fine church, school, windmill and many farmsites—
but only endured for about 50 years. The unrelenting advance of European settlement
ultimately resulted in the near-forcible removal of the tribe, to reserves further north.

Chief Peguis died in September of 1864, and was buried in the graveyard of St Peter’s
Anglican Church. In 1924 a monument honouring him was erected in Winnipeg’s Kildonan
Park.




Samuel Grisdale
Trapper, Chief of Brokenhead First Nation

Samuel (Sam) Grisdale was the son of John Grisdale and Marie Ann Raven. His grandfather
was Thomas Grisdale, and his great-grandfather was Jacob Grisdale, the son of one of the
original settlers in the area, who worked for the Hudson’s Bay company for many years,
hauling furs to outposts on Hudson’s Bay. The first settlers on the Brokenhead Reserve were
the Ravens, Cooks, Chiefs, Sinclairs and Grisdales.

Sam Grisdale received most of his education at St. Peter’s at the old log school and for a few
years at a second school built in 1928. He received much more education in the home taught
him by his elders, especially the elder Ravens. Grandpa Raven was very talented and had his
own organ, which he played with great zest and was in great demand.

Sam married Verna Smith, in 1943 and they had five sons. Sam started trapping in earnest
when he was 12 years old. He worked hard in the winters and only attended school for part of
the summer. He cut cordwood for Sam Wolfman. Wood was very cheap in those days, $3.50 a
cord. Sam and his mates also cut wood to make fish crates and boxes for the fishing industry.

Sam enjoyed sitting at his kitchen table looking out the window where he could see the river
and the old bridge. At the old Grisdale home you could hear the music of the water as it danced
over the rapids. It was a magical sound that was both healing and soothing to the spirit.

Samuel Grisdale was elected Councillor of the Brokenhead Band for four years and became
Chief for two years following that. His time on Council was during the years 1964 to 1970.
Sam tried to improve the roads and concentrated on getting industry going on the Reserve
during the term he held in office, with special attention on the wild rice industry.

A gathering of Oj
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ibway people, ca, 1910.




Places of Work

Most of the people noted in East Side of the Red were farmers, and for many of them the
financial rewards of farming often could not sustain the family, especially in the early years of
settlement. And so for many farmers it was commonplace to undertake additional work off the
farm to supplement their incomes. Thankfully there were a number of nearby industries, and
two major infrastructure projects, that required their skills and labour. There are frequent
references to these places in the following texts, and so it is useful to provide at least some
background about these places.

To the east of the municipality there were two major sources of opportunity: at the Garson
limestone quarries, about 12 miles (20k) east of Lockport); and in Beausejour (about 10 miles,
15 k further east of Lockport) at the Manitoba Glass Works. The two infrastructure projects
were the development of the St. Andrews (later Lockport) Locks and Dam and the Selkirk Lift
Bridge, both of which provided much-needed income to St. Clements farm families.

At the same time there four other local industrial activities that are rarely featured in the family
histories of East Side of the Red, but which are also worth noting here given that they also
likely provided occasional work for local people: the East Selkirk brick factories, stone
quarries, Doidge’s Pottery Works and the C.I.L Explosives Plant.

East Selkirk Brick Works

There were at one time several small brickyards operating in the East Selkirk area. These were
west of Cooks Creek and apparently ran down as far as the Red River. The brick from these
plants were used in the Towns of East and West Selkirk and also for the Roundhouse on the
cast side of the Red (built 1877-1879.). Three of the yards have been identified, although their
production and operations are sketchy; all were active ca. 1885-1900: one yard was that of
Isaac Thomas, c1889-c1892; another of James Wilson, ¢1890-c1893; and Hooker and
Company, through the 1890s. The nature of brick-making at this time would suggest that
skilled brick-makers and kiln-burners were brought in by the owners, but that local men would
have been required for the enormous amount of labour attending brick production: digging out
the clay and moving it to a mixing machine (pug mill), mixing the raw clay with water,
transporting pressed brick to a rough “clamp” kiln, unloading the kiln and moving the finished
bricks to wagons — a lot of hard (and dirty) work.

= UNETRERING
A BURNED CLAMP
oE BRIEHE —

Sketch of a fired brick clamp kiln being
unstacked. This is the kind of kiln
technology that likely defined brick-making
activity at East Selkirk. The whole clamp,
the most rudimentary of kiln technologies in
the brick-making industry, would have been
dismantled after firing, and the bricks sorted
for quality — under- or over-fired bricks
would have been re-used (usually for the
outside walls) when a new clamp was built
up for the next firing. (Courtesy Wiki-
Commons)



East Selkirk Stone Quarries

Limestone beds and outcrops were well known in the Red River Colony, and the majestic
stone churches and houses of the era (St. Peter’s Dynevor and the Bunn House are two major
local examples) featured beautiful stone in their walls. The East Selkirk area was fairly well
known, at least for several years, for its limestone quarries — which must have provided steady
work for many local men. There were at least 15 operations that have been noted in the
historical record:

The East Selkirk Quarry was a major site in the early 1880s, providing stone for the new CPR
Roundhouse in Selkirk, as well as for the new Louise Bridge in Winnipeg. Reports at the time
identified 25 men working at the site, and turning out 30 yards of stone a day — apparently a
huge amount, considering the labour-intensive nature of the work at that time. Large quantities
of lime were also being shipped from there to Winnipeg for the masons working on the bridge.

There were two other quarries at East Selkirk that had been worked extensively for a number
of years, one at each end of a large mound about half a mile in length, with most of the
ornamental stone used in the City of Winnipeg at that time taken from these sites.

Other operations included the Galena Limestone Quarry, whose exact location is unknown,
which operated in 1884. Three small quarries on and adjacent to land owned by Mrs. Nelson
(Lot 70), operated for a few years. One of these was identified as the Notre Dame Investment
Co. There was also a quarry opened briefly at the William Van Horne Farm.

An operation called Hicks Quarry, almost within the Village of East Selkirk, about a quarter of
a mile from the CPR spur line, produced lime and rubble. The Malmstron Quarry was
operating from 1889 to the late 1890s, but on a small scale. Another firm called Cutter, Little,
Flett, and the Hazel Quarries were active in the early 1890s. And finally three little quarries
produced some rough product in the late 1890s and even in 1905: the Sinclair, Mangar and
Gerard quarries.

It is presumed that the nearly 20 years of quarrying in and around East Selkirk had depleted the
limestone beds, which would have naturally resulted in a downturn in production. But it was
also the development of the large operations at nearby Garson, just before the turn of the
century, with their beautiful light-grey and fossil-encrusted limestone, that were to take over
nearly all stone production in Manitoba.
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The only existing photograph of one of the
limestone quarries and kilns near East
Selkirk, ca. 1884.



Doidge’s Pottery Works

Arthur Doidge learned the pottery trade in Peterborough, Ontario, and when he came to East
Selkirk in the 1870s, he inaugurated “Doidge’s Pottery Works,” with a large plant located
about 150 yards south of where the old CPR right-of-way crossed Cooks Creek. The operation
became “Doidge and Doidge” when his brother joined him in the management and operation
of the plant. The firm turned out flower pots and sewer pipe. Richard Kingdon joined the firm
in 1889, now called “Doidge and Kingdon of East Selkirk.” During the fall of 1896 the
Doidges and Kingdon expanded their pottery business and made several plant improvements
and modernizations. They then started manufacturing a line of stoneware that the newspapers
reported were “more equal to the imported articles.” Richard Kingdon died in March 1897, and
Arthur Doidge carried on with the pottery works until 1906, when he moved to B.C. It is not
clear what kind of local labour might have been required in this kind of operation, but we must
assume that the nearly 30 years of productivity must have involved the work of many local
people.

C.I.L. Brainerd Works

The C.L.L. explosives plant was an important employer for many St. Clements people from 1934
to 1970. The plant, which opened in 1934 was developed to manufacture commercial high
explosives. The plant was named after Dr. Thomas Brainerd, a pioneer of powder manufacturers.
There were 17 buildings that made up the complex. Men working in the explosive area were
required to wear special clothing with no metal buckles or buttons, and no cuffs on the pants. The
footwear worn inside could not be worn elsewhere. Visitors had to put on rubber footwear that
had not been outside. This was a safeguard against grit or sand being tracked in that might cause
friction.

The first high explosive manufactured at Brainerd was on December 10, 1934 and consisted of
one 1,000 Ib. mixing of 4090 Polar For cite Gelatin. In January of 1935 the company employed
about 30 people, practically all residents of St. Clements. There were several women working at
Brainerd at one time and their main duty was filling up shells, and placing them in 50 Ib. crates
ready for shipping. Manufacturing operations ceased in 1970, and most of the buildings were
demolished or removed in 1982.
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Garson Quarries

Around 1894, farmer John Gunn encountered a deposit of limestone while digging a well on
his land. Gunn, and other area farmers, kept small quarries, but it is not clear whether they
actually quarried themselves. It is known that Gunn did lease his land on royalty to other
companies, and people in the area have suggested that Gunn was responsible for the building
of the historic lime kilns still standing at the Gillis quarries in Garson.

William Garson opened the first large quarry in 1898. Even in its infancy, the quarry produced
nearly 90% of the stone used by Manitoba’s building industry. A small community of the
stoneworkers and their families who settled in the area to work at the quarry gradually
developed. The village ultimately was named Garson, after its employer. William Garson ran
the quarry until his death in 1911. Peter Lyall took over the operation. By 1914, three large
quarries were in operation in the Garson area: The Lyalls’s Wallace Sandstone Company,
which employed 250 workers, The G.W. Murray Quarry, which employed 60 workers, and the
Tyndall Quarry Company, which had 62 workers. Another major concern started its operations
in 1922 — Gillis Quarries. This is the firm that still quarries limestone at Garson. And it is also
the firm that gave the name Tyndall Stone to the distinctive light-grey fossil-embossed
limestone that is now famous.

Quarrying in the early days was hard, dirty and loud. Channeling machines run by steam
boilers were used to cut the stone from the quarry beds. During channeling, the men sprayed
water on the blades to keep the saws cool while also keeping the dust under control. The cut
stone was lifted by crane, carted by horse cart onto a bench, measured, then cut to size with a
diamond blade saw. Stone was also hand-carved by master carvers. “Roughers,” as they were
called, roughed in the general shape of the object with hammer and points, then the master
carvers went to work with their chisels to add the delicate details. Once completed, the stone
was carefully packed and loaded onto carts and then sent by small locomotives, or “dinkies,”
two miles east to the CPR depot in Tyndall for shipment. With the name Tyndall on the bills of
lading, the stone shipped from Tyndall came to be known as Tyndall Stone.
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Views of the Gillis Quarry at Garson.



Manitoba Glass Works

The Manitoba Glass Works in Beausejour was the site of the first glass container factory in
Western Canada. Construction began in June 1906 by Joseph Keilbach and his partners Gustav
Boehm, Edward Keilbach, and Carl Keilbach. The facility became operational in October 1906
and it was incorporated by January 1907. Glass-blowers from Poland and the United States,
aided by local labour, used silica sand to produce bottles for breweries and soft drink
companies in Winnipeg, serving the prairie market.

By 1907, the plant produced 15,000 to 20,000 bottles per week. Between 1909 and 1911 new
semi-automated equipment was installed to enable the production of jars, and medicine and ink
bottles. At its peak, the firm employed 350 workers.

The factory could not compete with larger manufacturers in Eastern Canada who held the
exclusive license for fully automatic machines. The Manitoba Glass Company was purchased
by a Montreal company which then relocated its operations to Redcliff, Alberta in response to
an offer of free natural gas and land. The Beausejour works were closed by 1914.

St. Andrews Lock and Dam at Lockport

The development of the locks and dam at Lockport was a huge infrastructure project, and
provided stable employment for scores of St. Clements-area men — driving trucks, excavating,
and shoring of piers.

The project was developed to facilitate easy movement of shipping along the Red River, from
Winnipeg to Lake Winnipeg, which before its construction was made impossible by the St.
Andrews Rapids, whose rough waters extended a fall of some 15 feet over a course of a 10-
mile distance. From the time of the first paddle steamers on the Red River it was the dream of
river men to gain access to Lake Winnipeg by either blasting a channel through the rapids or
building a dam so they could float their vessels over the rapids.

Completed in 1910, the project was a major piece of engineering, with a system comprised of

three elements; a dam, a lock, and a bridge. The design employed a Camere style dam and, at
240 metres long, was the largest dam of this type ever built. The Camere-style dam used
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moveable curtains consisting of horizontal sections of wood hinged together, which were
raised or lowered to control water flows. Invented by French engineer M. Camere, this type of
dam was popular in western Europe in the late nineteenth century.

Immediately after the opening of the locks and dam, freighter ships as large as the
"Winnitoba," which could carry 2,000 passengers and 35 carloads of freight, could provide a
viable link. These passenger and freighter ships ensured economically sustainable development
of fisheries, farming, and mineral resources.

The project was clearly one of great sophistication. But it also required a lot of simple grunt
labour. For example, during the last three weeks of January 1900, there were a number
of men working to remove boulders from the river edge, and cutting an opening
across the river eight-feet wide through the ice. By mid-February the crew had
increased to 20 men and three teams of horses, and one month later it was reported
that up to 35 men were removing boulders from the bed of the river. Equipment
initially used were men with teams drawing dump wagons and slushers, as well as
men supplying labour with picks, shovels and wheelbarrows. Labourers were paid 15
cents an hour for unskilled, 25 cents an hour for skilled, while men with teams were
paid $2.50 per day, for a 12-hour day.

Towards the end of August 1907 the project was employing some 150 men and with
this increase in manpower came accidents and labour disputes. Several men died of
injuries or by drowning

The building of the lock, bridge piers and submerged dam really started in 1905 and
continued through to 1908. The Canada Foundry Co. were the contractors for the
movable dam, the steel service bridge as well as the repair shop, etc. The lock gates
were fashioned and built by John Burns of Ottawa. Manitoba Bridge furnished the
material and Brown Concrete did the construction of the main bridge in 1908 and
completed their share in 1909. The removable part of the dam was supplied and
erected by Canada Foundry, who placed the dam in operation by May 10, 1910, and
handed it over to federal government personnel one week later.

On July 14, 1910 the St. Andrew’s Locks were declared formally opened by Sir

Wilfrid Laurier from the deck of the steamer “Winnitoba” in the hearing of some
3,000 people on board and an even greater crowd gathered by the Locks.
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View of the St. Andrews Lock and Dam

under construction.

St. Andrews Lock and Dam.



Selkirk Lift Bridge

During the Great Depression of the 1930s, a make-work construction project finally
bridged the Red River at Selkirk, replacing the existing ferry, and making access
between Selkirk and the R.M. of St. Clements nearly seamless. The lift-bridge design
ensured that large boats navigating the river could easily pass underneath the bridge
deck.

The project began in 1934, when the R.M. of St. Clements and the Town of Selkirk
petitioned the federal government for funds from the Dominion Government Relief
Program to build a suitable bridge. A total of $250,000 was awarded for the contract.
By April of 1935, three piers of the bridge had been constructed. Two more years
would pass before the bridge was formally opened for vehicular traffic, on May 3,
1937.

Construction of the bridge was a certainly a major engineering feat, requiring a great many
skilled builders and craftsmen. But it also involved a great deal of earth-moving, and basic hard-
muscle activity. And at the height of the Great Depression, the project ensured employment for
scores of local people.

The contractors, Macaw and Macdonald, soon had the camp set up, and as soon as they were
settled, the foreman was handed a list of St. Clements residents who were available and willing
to work on the project: L. Rowley, Sam Romaniuk, David Muzichka, Harry Sokolowski, Frank
Malazdrewicz, Joe Burdiak, John Michalishyn, P. Kosakewicz, Fred Sokolowski, Nick
Chiboyko, N. Rozonick, John Seniuk and Pete Hornetski. The project also needed men and
teams and the following names were quickly put forward: Arthur Macfie, John Korba, Joe
Rokosh, Jack Martin, Mike Zarichney, John Rokosh and Tom Sul.

By March 13, 1935, Macaw and Macdonald was able to report they had 58 men at work on the

bridge. Of this total, about seven were company men, experienced at bridge work, while about 20
were from St. Clements and 31 from elsewhere.
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Views of the Selkirk Lift Bridge — at top with
the main span lowered and below lifted to
allow boats through.



The Pioneer Life

Pioneer Work has been designed so that interesting characters associated with key historic
work practices are featured, and the details and attributes of that work are highlighted and
explored. Given this approach, many of the family anecdotes and recollections that often attend
an entry in our prime resource for the project, The East Side of the Red, have not been
included.

One aspect that often features in many of these entries is the pioneer experience. Because this
experience was shared by nearly all of the characters, these stories have also mostly been left
out, in order to more clearly focus on “the work.”

But the pioneer experience was so profound and pervasive that it really needs to be told, so that
most of the following entries can be placed into that context. Several of the most compelling
stories from The East Side of the Red are therefore featured here.

The following extracts are taken from the entry for the Sopko Family.

Building a Log House

The first houses were built of hewed poplar logs which were dovetailed at the
corners. The bottom ring, or first log and joist, was red tamarac. This wood was very
resistant to decay, and was on fieldstones at the corners and intermediate places
along the wall. The walls were plastered with clay and whitewashed. The roof was
rough sawed boards nailed clapboard fashion as they had no money to buy shingles.
The floors were rough sawed planks. The beds were wooden frames with a jute bag
filled with hay for a mattress. Every time it rained mother tied the bedding into a
bundle and placed it in a spot where the roof didn’t leak. The windows were frosted
all over, single glazed, and leaked every time there was a thaw.

A Child’s Viewpoint

Born on this farm in 1908, I remember how the land was cleared, that is the bush was
removed and burned, trees were grabbed out with a mattock or grub hoe and axe,
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View of a train and the old CPR roundhouse
at East Selkirk, which was turned into an
immigration shed in 1899. It is in this
building that all new immigrants to the area

were processed.

View of a family undertaking the annual re-
plastering and whitewashing of the exterior
log walls of the farm house.



land was broken with a walking plow and oxen. Seed grain was broadcast by hand,
out with a sickle and scythe with a cradle, sheaves were tied by hand with a band
made from the same grain, threshed with a flail on a platform made of rough hand
sawn planks.

My father died in 1912, leaving mother with four children, Annie, myself, Mary, and
Rose, who was born the day before father died. The following winter, mother hauled
cordwood to Selkirk with a team to trade for food and necessities for survival.

When the time came to send the children to school, mother was hard up for clothes so
she made them from hand-me-downs from city cousins. She made pants for me for
my first day of school from an old navy-blue serge suit, but could not get enough
cloth without patches, so she put the patched parts to the back, that way the front
looked presentable. I went to school barefoot as I had no shoes. The lunch was
mostly bread and butter sandwiches. There was no wrapping paper so we had to reuse
it until it was worn out. We walked to school along wagon trails over ridges of higher
land as the road allowances were not cleared of bush at that time.

The Land and the River and Their Bounty

The land near the river was very fertile and was used for growing crops and many
kinds of vegetables which found a ready market in the growing City of Winnipeg
only 15 minutes to the south. Away from the river there was hay land which
furnished feed for the horses and cattle and at the east end of each farm were woods
which supplied logs for building houses and firewood for heating and cooking.
Gonor’s principal industry was the growing of many kinds of vegetables, chiefly
potatoes, which were hauled to Winnipeg by horses and wagon and sold either at the
Farmer's Market located at Dufferin Avenue and Derby Street, or by peddling on the
streets and back lanes in the north end of the City.

Oats, wheat, and barley were also raised mainly for feed for livestock and the flour
used on farms. Wheat was ground into flour at local mills and other grains were used
for feed for the livestock. In the late summer and fall the grain was cut and stocked
or stacked in the field to dry for a short time and then the sheaves were hauled, piled
into stacks in the farmyards for threshing.
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Gull Lake pioneer Julius Schwark at work on

a hand-made butter churn. Most pioneers
made their own tools and implements.



One of the early steam threshing outfits was operated by a Mr. Johnston and Mr.
Clouston from Cloverdale. The steam engine was drawn by a team of horses as it was
not self-propelled. Later the thresher outfits became self-propelled except the one
operated by Stanley Husarski which was powered by a gasoline engine. The noise of
the machinery was overwhelming and in order to be heard you had to yell at the top
of your voice, even from close by.

The name of Tom Sanders should not be omitted from our early history. A common
sight along the road in winter was the sight of Tom and his enormous Clydesdales
hauling and straining under a load of gravel from Clark’s Pit, north of Gonor. He
provided the gravel for nearly all the roads in and around Gonor. In the warm months
he and his gigantic team of horses pulled a huge breaking plow to break the virgin
land of the Gonor vicinity. Tom and his team also furnished the power to move
houses and extra heavy loads. Alas, poor Tom did not get to enjoy his old age
pension for very long as passed away in the early 1930’s, only a few months after
retiring.

Many Gonor residents on the river lots north of the Locks engaged in fishing for
large catfish and bass by means of heavy nightlines which were weighted down to the
river bottom and marked by a wooden float at the surface. Each line stretched about
halfway across the river and had attached to it 40 or more hooks spaced about 3’
apart which were baited each evening. Early in the morning the line would be raised
and any fish removed, and fish buyers came with their trucks, very early in the
morning, to buy the fish, usually offering about 5¢ per pound in those days. Some of
the fishermen would stuff the large fish with pebbles or pieces of lead to increase its
weight.

The Seasons

Easter was always a gay season. On Saturday night before Easter Sunday, a number
of young men sat up all night huddled around a log fire in the Churchyard near the
Bell Tower, keeping vigil. On Easter Sunday morning. we were in church before
daybreak, because the procession commenced at sunrise.
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We felt relieved to see the eastern sky turn bright. It was a happy time not only
because we were celebrating Christ’s Resurrection, but also because it was the spring
of the year and that brought great joy to everyone, especially to see green patches of
grass exposed by the melting snow of which we were sick and tired of by then.

In the early summers in Gonor, long ago, one could smell the smoke from the
smudges which were being burned to keep away mosquitos from the cows during
milking time. That is now a forgotten event because milk comes in plastic containers
from the supermarket, and no milk cows are to be seen anywhere in Gonor now. |
remember when Mother would be milking in the evening, and we boys stood waiting
with our cups, for her to fill with fresh milk, direct from the cow. What a treat that
was.

A pioneer farmhouse in winter.
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Thomas Bunn
Lawyer, Politician, Farmer

Thomas Bunn was one of the early pioneers of St. Clements, and devoted much of his life to
shaping the development of this part of the Red River Settlement. The son of a noted leader of
the Red River Colony, Dr. John Bunn, Thomas was a farmer by occupation and in later years
turned his attention to the political development of the colony as a representative on Louis
Riel’s first Provisional Government and then in the first Legislative Assembly for Manitoba.

Thomas Bunn was born on May 16, 1830, and was named after his grandfather who had come
to Rupert’s Land with the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1797 from England. Thomas first farmed
in the Kildonan area, but during the big floods of the 1850s, when they had to move to Birds
Hill, he promised his wife that he would build her a house at a location where she would never
have to worry about floods again. The house he built for her in 1862 still stands 70 feet above
the Red and far above any flood waters ever recorded, at Lot 97 in the Parish of St. Clements.
Wheat and some cattle were the primary produce raised on this farm.

Thomas Bunn was very active in the political life of the community. As his grandmother was
of Native descent, he had sympathy for the treatment other Metis were receiving from
Dominion Government surveyors. When Louis Riel declared the Provisional Government of
Assiniboia, Thomas Bunn was elected in November 1869 as the English-speaking member for
the parish of St. Clements and served as Secretary of State. When representatives of this
government went to negotiate with Ottawa, their commissions were signed: “Thomas Boom, in
the name of the President of the Provisional Government of Assiniboia in Council, a Seat of
Government, Winnipeg Assiniboia.”

Thomas Bunn was elected to represent the constituency of St. Clements and did so until he
died on April 11, 1875. In June 1871 he was called to the Manitoba Bar and served in the
judiciary until his death. Thomas Bunn had several children, the most noted one was his son
Thomas who also was very involved in the political life of the community serving as
Councillor for Ward 3 of the St. Clements Municipality from 1899-1906 and then as Secretary-
Treasurer from 1906-1940.
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Looking After Municipal Affairs

The Heaps
Lawyers and Municipal Advisors

James Heap was born in England on February 1, 1830 and came to Canada in 1854, settling in
Ontario. In 1864 he married Miss Colcleugh. They remained in Ontario until 1887 at which
time they moved west to Manitoba and made their home in Selkirk. James received his legal
training in Ontario and practised law in the Town of Selkirk and surrounding area for over 22
years. James continued to deal in law and eventually his son Frederick joined in partnership
with him. They carried on an impressive law firm representing many corporations, loan and
railway organizations. James Heap passed away on February 18, 1909 and he was buried at
Lindsay, Ontario. James and Fred Heap represented the Municipality of St. Clements at several
court hearings and served as Municipal Solicitor from 1898 to 1909. The rate of remuneration
during those years was about $35.00 per year for legal work. Fred attended the regular monthly
meetings of council and aided members of council when transactions had to be handled or
legal interpretation was needed. Over the years when researching court cases or viewing the
newspaper articles of the Selkirk area it would be most unusual not to see mention of the Heap
name in relation to legal matters. Also, they were most successful in winning judgement in the
cases they represented.

Thomas Family
Municipal Officials

The Thomas family have served the public as councillors of Ward 6 in the R.M. of St.
Clements. Henry Thomas started the ball rolling in 1899-1900, to be followed by his son
Henry-George Thomas, who served from 1915 to 1918. Many years later Henry-George’s son
Reuben Thomas served the longest, from 1941 to 1950 and 1955 to 1966 for a total of 22
years. Three years later Reuben’s son Earl was elected and served in 1969 and 1970 and he
was re-elected for 1971 and 1972.
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Views of the original Municipal Office
Building (top) and of the Council
Chambers (below), where major
decisions about municipal activity and
expenses were debated.



Kenyon Copperthwaite
Trapper and Guide

Kenyon “Dad” Copperthwaite came to Canada in 1853 from England when he was
just a youngster of 14 years (born ca. 1839). Mr. Copperthwaite reached Manitoba on
the first CPR train to steam into the province. Once the CPR reached Winnipeg he
quit railroading and in 1881 became involved in trapping and hunting throughout the
Hudson’s Bay Company country. That year he started trapping in the James Bay area
and later moved even further north. He would trap and hunt in winter and prospect
during the summer.

Old “Dad” became famous for his marksmanship with a rifle and was in great demand
as a guide during hunting season. He made his living hunting, trapping and guiding
generally, and in later years especially guiding duck hunters. He knew the marshes
like the back of his hand. When “Dad” Copperthwaite observed his 109th Birthday in
1948, be attributed his longevity to the rugged life he had led outdoors, a drink of
scotch whiskey whenever it was available, and tobacco which was his constant guide,
philosopher and friend. When he was 108 years old, he was still making a living as a
guide for the duck hunters who visited his farm at Whittle’s Point near Libau.

Manitoba’s oldest man (at that time) entered the St. Boniface Home for the Aged and
Infirm only after his extreme age left him a semi-invalid. Always patriotic, when he
was 102 years old he expressed keen disappointment to his many friends because he
was unable to join Canada’s fighting forces in World War II. The last year of his life
was spent in reminiscing about the old days and of how he sadly missed his hunting
and camping days — especially the Libau Marsh.

Known by many as the “Hermit of Chesterfield Inlet” and one of Manitoba’s oldest
and most colorful pioneers, Kenyon Copperthwaite died at 110 years of age on
Tuesday, February 8, 1949. Because there were no surviving relatives known to exist,
St. Clements Municipality quietly arranged the funeral of their dear old friend.
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A Fur Trade Heritage

The R.M. of St. Clements has a long and rich connection to the fur trade — the great economic
engine that brought European explorers and traders into Western Canada. From 1680-1763 the
English (Hudson’s Bay Company) and the French (North West Company) competed for beaver
pelts in the fur trade. The Hudson’s Bay Company (HBC), with Cree and Assiniboine tribes as
middlemen, brought the pelts to coastal ports. Later the HBC began establishing inland trading
posts, the first being Cumberland House, near The Pas, built in 1774 by Samuel Hearne. In 1734
the famous French explorers and traders, the La Verendryes, established Fort Maurepas on a site
approximately 15 miles upstream from the mouth of the Red River. The North West Company
opened a post at Netley Creek in 1803, on the west bank of the Red River. The Netley Marsh
area as of 1805 was the most northerly limit of native horticulture. Historians believe that corn
was raised by the Saulteaux. They kept gardens on levees within Netley Marsh. One was located
approximately 1.5 miles upstream from the Red River and Netley Creek Junction. In 1813 the
HBC established a second post just north of the junction of Netley Creek and the Red River.
Sixty horses were kept here to be used for transport of goods to Brandon House on the
Assiniboine River.

Adelaide Thomas, a fur-trade pioneer
(centre), seen here in front of her log
cabin in 1947.
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More Fur Trade Memories

Adelaide (Moran) Thomas

During an interview in March, 1955,
on the occasion of her 108th birthday,
the Winnipeg Free Press carried an
article (slightly edited here): “A living
reminder of Canada’s frontier heritage
has made history — then outlived it.
This month at Traverse Bay, Mrs.
Adelaide Thomas celebrated her 108th
birthday. Mrs. Thomas was born
March 15, 1847, at Ille La Crosse in
the far northern part of Saskatchewan.
The family moved to Brochet and there
she met her future husband — George
Thomas, who became Hudson’s Bay
Factor at Moose Factory. Adelaide and
“Geordie” came south in 1895 and
settled in the Balsam Bay area. Until
about 1952, Adelaide lived alone in a
house on the outskirts of her son
Peter’s homestead. As she did almost
100 years ago, Adelaide continued to
live off the land. She netted fish when
the water was open. She tapped nearby
maple trees and boiled down the sap.
The taste of pemmican "the life of the
North” Adelaide said, “is still fresh in
my mouth." Geordie Thomas died in
1927 at the age of 87 years. Adelaide
Thomas lived to be 110 years old, and
was laid to rest in the Roman Catholic
Church of St. Margaret’s Church at
Traverse Bay.



Alec Anderson
Fisherman, Boat Captain, Sawmill Operator

Alexander Anderson was the son of James Anderson and Elizabeth Isbister, daughter of John
Isbister. They had 10 children. Alec was born at Norway House in 1865. He attended St. Paul’s
School, and at age 17 he moved to Balsam Bay, where he met and married Matilda Thomas,
daughter of Richie and Mary Thomas, on February 12, 1883. Alec and Matilda had 12
children. In the early days, Alec did some fishing, then started buying fish from the fishermen
at Victoria Beach, Fort Alexander, St. George, and all around the east side of the lake, and
freighting it by horse and sleigh to Selkirk, taking groceries, and other goods on the trip back.
In the summer, he made his trips by boat.

In 1910, Mr. Anderson moved his family to Victoria Beach to work for the Victoria Beach
Company, as Victoria Beach was opening up as a summer resort. He was captain on the small
passenger boat, The Pilgrim, which carried around 25 passengers. The Pilgrim ran from
Winnipeg to Victoria Beach. Mr. and Mrs. Anderson lived in a large cottage owned by Charles
Kennedy, which was one of the three cottages in Victoria Beach at the time. Mrs. Anderson
boarded the people who came to holiday at Victoria Beach.

Mr. and Mrs. Anderson moved back to Balsam Bay, and Alec purchased a gas sawmill and
sawed wood for the people around the country. Later he also bought a threshing machine and
threshed grain for the small farmers in the area. Like most people in those times they kept a
few animals for their own use. Mr. Anderson was constable for the area for a good number of
years. He was postmaster at Balsam Bay from 1900-1910, Mr. Anderson then took the job of
postmaster again until 1939. Marg Newman, Mr. Anderson’s daughter, operated the post office
until 1952. Mr. Anderson’s granddaughter, Esther Thomas, operated it until 1958.

Looking backwards the family thinks of the day that Matilda Anderson, nee Thomas, stood
beside Eugene Derby on the land that is now the Balsam Bay Cemetery, as the sun filtered
through the huge evergreens and glistened on the waters of the bay she said “This place has not
yet been named. What kind of trees are these?” Mr. Derby replied “Balsam trees,” and Matilda
suggested naming it Balsam Bay. Mr. Derby said “Balsam Bay it is.” Matilda Anderson died
December 3, 1934 and Alec Anderson died December 31, 1950.
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Merchant, Lighthouse Keeper

James Peter Paulson was the son of Pjetur Paulson. The elder Paulson had landed in Canada
from Iceland in 1876. With him was his wife, Gudrun Johnsdotter, and their six children. The
government offered property for settlement, situated between Gimli and the Icelandic River,
and 250 Icelandic settlers arrived here. James Peter was among them. He was five years old at
the time. One year later, 150 of the Icelandic group died of small-pox including Gudrun and
four of her six children.

James left home and worked at Hookers Lumber Mill in Selkirk at the age of 11 years. He
stayed for 21 years and left the company with the title of Head Engineer. James Peter Paulson
married Elizabeth Anderson, daughter of Alex Anderson of Balsam Bay, in 1903. For this
special event he rented a snappy team of horses from the Selkirk Livery Stable, complete with
driver, for one week.

During the summer of 1903, James built a home in Balsam Bay, obtaining the lumber from
Hookers Lumber Mill, which had a branch operation at Grand Marais. In the winter of that
same year he moved the house over the ice to Victoria Beach, which was then in the
municipality of St. Clements. He also lived in a house situated where the Victoria Beach Golf
Course now stands. He also built another new home between 4th and 5th Avenues on Arthur
Road, where he ran a General Store.

James Peter Paulson, apart from running the General Store, also looked after the Victoria
Beach Municipal Public Works and the Government Lighthouse. In 1925, he sold the business
and his property at Victoria Beach and moved to Balsam Bay, building a. new home there
about 100 feet from where he had built his first home in 1903. He more or less retired. There
he spent the rest of his life until the time of his death, in 1960.
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James Peter Paulson and his wife
Elizabeth.



J.J. Gunn

Farmer and Apiarist

John J. Gunn was born April 2, 1861 on the east side of the Red River, near where the Locks
are now, about 15 miles north of Winnipeg. His father was John Gunn, M.P., and his mother
was Emma Garrioch, both persons of culture and education. The home influence, the constant
association with people of refinement, and a good library always at his hand influenced his
whole life.

John’s grandfather, the Hon. Donald Gunn, was a member of the first Legislative Council of
Manitoba. a corresponding secretary to the Smithsonian Institution, and a writer of History of
Manitoba. John saw exemplified in his grandfather what a man may become by self-
improvement, so every spare minute was used for study. Though deprived of a college
education, he became a well-educated man, conversant with the best English authors from the
time of Chaucer. He mastered French, too, so that he could read the works of French authors.

John J. was a farmer and an apiarist with a minute and practical knowledge of insects, birds
and flowers native to Manitoba. He was president of the Western Beekeeper's Association, and
filled local positions as Postmaster and Justice of the Peace. In 1905 he married Eleanor
Flanagan, a public-school teacher formerly of Bloomfield, Ontario. One son was born to this
union, on May 11, 1907, but he died in infancy.

John J. was a man of pleasing personality and appearance, always courteous, with a fine sense
of humour and an understanding heart. He was never too busy to extend the hand of friendship,
nor the helping hand. His was a life of usefulness and integrity. He was trusted and loved by all
who knew him. John J. Gunn served as Returning Officer in the Electoral Division of St.
Andrews on several occasions. It was in November of 1905 that John J. bought the Hedley
farm, two miles east of East Selkirk, for about $20.00 per acre. It was a good farm from all
reports. In 1906 and 1907 while at East Selkirk, John J. carried off several first prizes at the
Winnipeg Exhibition for his exhibits of honey, as he had in past years. His East Selkirk farm
was becoming quite a showplace, and then on September 22, 1907 tragedy struck. It appears he
was tying up a bull in the stable when the animal made an attack on him. Mrs. Gunn found him
and very bravely pulled him to the house and called the doctor who pronounced him dead,
instantly, by goring.
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Beekeeping and the Apiarist

There are numerous references in The East Side of the Red to beekeeping, a reminder that this
was a common practice for small farm operations — to ensure that the sweet honey could be
available for cooking. Depictions of humans collecting honey from wild bees date to 10,000
years ago. Beekeeping in pottery vessels began about 9,000 years ago in North Africa.
Domestication of bees is shown in Egyptian art from around 4,500 years ago. Simple hives and
smoke were used and honey was stored in jars, some of which were found in the tombs of
pharaohs such as Tutankhamun. It wasn't until the 18th century that European understanding of
the colonies and biology of bees allowed the construction of the moveable comb-hive so that
honey could be harvested without destroying the entire colony. At some point humans began to
attempt to domesticate wild bees in artificial hives made from hollow logs, wooden boxes,
pottery vessels, and woven straw baskets or "skeps." In North America, the American “Father
of the Apiculture,” L.L. Langstroth was the first to develop a successful top-opened hive with
movable frames. Many other hive designs are based on the principle of bee space first described
by Mr. Langstroth. Many other apiarists (the technical term for a beekeeper) throughout Europe
designed variations on this design, with the major advantage shared by the designs being that
additional brood and honey storage space can be added via boxes of frames added to the hive.
The de51gn also s1mp11ﬁed honey collection smce an entire box of honey could be removed

f L : instead of removing one frame at
. a time.

Left: An apiarist with his
collection of beehives. Top
| right: A beekeeper with his
' protective gear. Below right:
A keeper with some examples
of beehive designs.
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Alexander Rowley
Farmer

Alexander Butler Rowley was born on November 12, 1855, at Penryth, Cumberland, England.
He was among the volunteers who came to Canada to settle the North West Rebellion of 1885.
On April 5, 1888 he married Margaret Ann Mclvor. She was a very level person, educated at
St. Mary’s Academy for her higher education. Alex and Margaret started life together, north of
East Selkirk, at Poplar Park. They didn’t stay long as their home burnt down. They then bought
a home near East Selkirk, where they raised a large family and they lived out their days there.

They at first had a market garden. Mr. Rowley had never done any manual labour in his life.
However, he soon showed how clever he was and with the help of a wonderful wife they made
a success of it. He tile-drained at least 10 acres of land. He also dug a ditch two miles long and
at least two feet deep. All this work was done by hand. He also tunneled under the road from
the basement to have drainage. He also did the same for the root houses, so water never laid in
those places.

He was called upon to use his legal ability by the Municipality of St. Clements, by the
community at large and by many friends who, in legal trouble, turned to him. He was the
solicitor for the municipality, as well as an auditor. He formed the School District of Kitchener
at the request of the Department of Education. He formed municipalities at the request of the
Manitoba Government. He named the East Selkirk’s new school at that time: Happy Thought.

Mr. Rowley imported his horses from England and Scotland, mostly Clydesdales, as he needed
the heavy horses to work the land. He also brought out purebred bulls and Shorthorns. He often
showed his cattle at the Selkirk Fair.

Alexander lived to 87 years of age, dying in May 1943. Margaret Ann lived to the age of 93,
dying in 1962. They had a family of 13 children.
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The Rowley Home - A Fine Farm House

When the Rowleys moved to their East Selkirk homestead, there was already a log house built
there. Father enlarged the old log portion to became the kitchen. That’s where we had all the
dances and all the people from the district used to dance in there. I think there were three floors
put in that kitchen — they literally danced them out. The house had six rooms upstairs and along
hallway. In this hallway, one end had a big oak table, it was a wide hallway over 8 feet wide,
and this table was always piled high with books. At this table we did our homework.

Downstairs we had a huge kitchen, another big hallway, a sitting room and my parent’s bedroom.
The house had brick chimneys, a huge kitchen range with a copper boiler for boiling water. In
the hall was a large Quebec Heater lined with bricks. The living room had a long box stove. In
the downstairs bedroom was a small Quebec Heater. The pipes from the stoves and heaters went
upstairs to the four chimneys. The pipes through the floors had cement all around them, so they
were safe from fire and safe for the children.

We had a pantry at one end of the kitchen, full length. Mother stored
the goods we used every day. In the basement, which was a full stone
basement, there was a huge room with plank shelves, where Mother ,4:»
stored her canning (wild fruits, cranberries, raspberries, wild
strawberries, rhubarb, pumpkin jam, blueberries, etc.). She made
pickles by the gallons, jar upon jar — we kids loved to eat, and by
spring those preserves would be gone. Of course the basement was
very cold, but it didn’t freeze. If there was any doubt that it might
freeze, they had kerosene heaters to protect the root crops from
freezing.

Father built a beautiful barn and it had a big high loft. There was a %

kind of platform built on top and they had ventilators, little steeples, 7
three of these on top of the barn and a ladder going to the top.
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Arni Anderson
Blacksmith, Inventor, Farmer

Arni Andresson (Anderson), in the company of his wife Albina, arrived in Canada in 1876, to
settle on a farm, which they named Arnastodurn, near Arnes. From there they moved on to
Sandy River on the eastern shore of Lake Winnipeg. They stayed there for eight years where
Ami fished, hunted and manufactured axe handles. In 1896, Ami moved his family to Poplar
Park, where he had purchased a farm, an ideal location for raising cattle and sheep.

Arni was a handsome man of medium height, having dark hair and a long thick beard,
accompanied by piercing blue eyes. A skilled craftsman, Arni ran his own smithy, where he
performed a wide variety of tasks. He possessed an inquiring and inventive mind, and in
addition to experiments, with perpetual motion, he constructed a windmill, which was used to
power the homestead’s butter churn.

His wife Albina, or Granny as she was affectionately known, as well as looking after her own
family, went about the countryside nursing the sick and laying out the dead. She passed away
in the spring of 1929 at the home of her daughter Etny in Husavick. Albina was laid to rest
beside her husband Arni on the little hill on their farm.

Arni and Albina’ s son, Andres, taught school in Arnes, and with his wife Gudrun Hallgrimson
(married in 1902), moved to Poplar Park where they lived with his parents and sister on the
family farm. Like his father, Andres had many talents. He was an excellent mathematician and
spoke several languages. He enjoyed writing songs and poems. He was a man of many visions
and liked trying new ideas. Almost every piece of haymaking equipment at that time was on
his farm. This included a hay-bailer which in those days was quite an uncommon implement.
The farm had become quite successful during these days and employed many men and women.
In 1921, Andrew built a large two-storey house. It was heated by a wood burning furnace, it
also had a cistern which collected rainwater that was pumped up to the kitchen. It was the first
house in the district that had electric lights supplied by a generator which also supplied lighting
for the yard and ham. He also served the community as Councillor between 1908 and 1915. On
April 14, 1927, Andrew died and was buried beside his parents and young daughter in the
family plot, on the farm. Gudrun died in April, 1965 at the age of 88 and is buried in the St.
James Anglican Churchyard in Poplar Park.
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A Day in the Life of a Blacksmith

For the early settlers, the blacksmith was perhaps the most essential tradesman. Not only did he
make the iron parts for the first farming implements, he also could repair all iron objects by
hammering them by hand on an anvil. After heating the iron until white-hot, the blacksmith
would then shape and wield a multitude of objects from it, including carriage bolts and wheels,
iron work, cooking utensils, and most importantly, horseshoes. Blacksmiths who made
horseshoes were called farriers, derived from the Latin word for iron. At a time when horses
were the only means of transport, the blacksmith was important not only individual farmers and
travelers, but also to merchants, whose businesses depended on transporting their goods to other
places. Also, because they spent much of their time shoeing horses, blacksmiths gained a
considerable amount of knowledge about equine diseases. The new industrial output of the late
1800s allowed the smith to improve his shop. With a small boiler, steam engine, and a system
of overhead shafts, pulleys, and leather belts, the formerly hand operated shop equipment like
the post drill, the blower, and other equipment could he easily powered. The small belt powered
machines like the Little Giant trip hammer or its blacksmith-built counterpart took its place in
many small shops. Later, the "steam" part of the steam driven leather belt systems were replaced
with small gasoline engines or electric motors. In time, many
power hammers were fitted with their own electric motors. Many
blacksmiths were manufacturers as well. Wagon boxes, the setting
of wagon and buggy tyres, lathe turned parts for spinning wheels,
the making of sleigh runners, bolsters, bunks and tongues, and the
custom manufacture of truck transfer boxes with cattle hauling
equipment, were some of the items fabricated with finesse
befitting the labours. Always, along with the aforesaid, there were
the innumerable interruptions to repair broken machinery as is
wont to happen in a mixed farming area.
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The Domke Blacksmith Shop
still stands in Libau.




Henry Nelson
Sportsman and Farmer

Henry (Harry) Nelson was born in 1856 in Thornhill, Dumfriershire, Scotland. Barbara Croy
was born on March 1, 1857; in Kirkwall, Orkney Islands, Scotland. In the late 1870s, Harry
emigrated to New York City, where he followed his trade as a stonemason. When he had the
necessary funds, he sent for Barbara. She arrived in St. John, New Brunswick, and they
married there in 1878.

Their adventurous spirit brought them to Winnipeg in 1882. Eight children were born to the
Nelsons. Anxious to advance, Harry started a contracting business with Joe Bye of Spokane,
Washington. Some of their contracts included the Winnipeg Post Office., the McIntyre Block,
an Agricultural College Building and the Lake of the Woods Milling Company at Keewatin,
Ontario. The need for a quarry to supply his contracting business brought the Nelsons to East
Selkirk.

Harry continued his business in Winnipeg. He would walk to the “Halfway House™ at Parkdale
on Friday after work, stay overnight, and then very early Saturday morning he would walk to
the farm. On Sunday, Margaret would drive him to the “Halfway House,” and from there he
would walk to Winnipeg, early on the Monday morning. In the winter, bricks were heated for
the round trip to and from Parkdale.

Mrs. Nelson managed the farm and saw to the needs of her large family. She was the first lady
member from St. Clements on the Board of the St. Andrews and St. Clements Agricultural
Society. The family proudly showed their Clydesdale horses at neighbouring fairs. Son Gordon
always entered the local plowing matches. Son Harold was a born mechanic, a great asset for a
farming family. And, of course, Jean (“Topsy”) played the organ for church services at the
Mayfield School House, and for many years at MacBeth Presbyterian Church.

There seemed to be no end to the work. After seeding, haying and harvesting were finished,

the grain had to be hauled to the elevator. Then, there was milking and churning. In the winter
months, wood had to be cut, hauled home and readied for the furnace and stoves.
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Harry Nelson was very influential in bringing the sport of curling to the East Selkirk area. He
fashioned the first granite curling rocks, and all curling at that time was played on the Red
River. He won many trophies for curling; one donated by Sir William Van Home was brought
to East Selkirk by Harry Nelson’s rink. He was appointed Branch Umpire on January 31, 1902
at a meeting of the Royal Caledonia Curling Association. At Mr. Nelson’s death, in 1906, his
wife received a sympathy letter from W. J. Black, President of the Agricultural College (now
University of Manitoba). In 1934, the community honoured Mrs. Nelson at a large party at her
home on the occasion of her 77th birthday.

Curling - The Roaring Game

Of all the organized sports played on the prairies, the “roaring game” of curling is certainly one
of the oldest. The earliest curling games of the 1870s and 80s were often played on the frozen
rivers and small lakes of Manitoba. Games were sometimes played under gaslight, with bell-
shaped irons or iron-wrapped woods serving as curling
stones. Rules were negotiable, teams were colourful
and games were exciting but erratic. As noted above,
the Van Horne Farm supported sports and recreation
within the area. One trophy in particular was a
prestigious cup in solid sterling silver. On the cup was
engraved “The Van Horne Trophy - 1900” and it was
presented to the curling rink winning that event. The
base shield held the names of the annual winners. In
1900 the winning rink was skipped by R.E. Holloway
and his curling mates: J. Walls, H-W. Beale and M.
Moncrieff, while in 1901 the curling winners were: W. |
Mclntyre, LT. Donaldson, R. Rennie and M. Moncrieff
(skip). If Sir William didn’t make it in person to present
the trophy, his good friend, H.W. Nelson of East
Selkirk, often performed the pleasant duty.
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Murdoch McLeod

Grain Elevator Agent

Murdock McLeod was born in Scotland, on the Isle of Lewis. He married Hanna Munro of
Rothshire, Goose Bay, in Labrador. They lived in the Highland Glen area, near Melrose.
Murdoch and Hanna had seven children.

Mr. McLeod was the Elevator Agent at East Selkirk for over 30 years.

After moving to Selkirk, Mr. McLeod captained the freighter “Newton,” plying between
Selkirk and Warren’s Landing. He later became a Captain’s Mate on the S.S. Keenora. Their
daughter recalls that Mr. and Mrs. McLeod were avid curlers, and that Mr. McLeod played the
bagpipes and wore the “Kilt."

Given that grain, and the grain elevators that were the key part of the distribution system, were
such an important part of the Western Canadian economy in the early 20" century, the local
grain elevator agent would have been a major local figure. He would have to be friendly and
accessible, part diplomat but also part hard-nosed businessman. He would certainly have to be
trusted, by local farmers and by the grain companies that employed him.

Some of the responsibilities of a grain elevator agent included checking the quality of the
products, maintaining that quality throughout the entirety of the time that the grain was in the
elevator, promoting the selling of the grain, managing the prices of the market and finally
shipping the grain on the way to a destination.
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Holubowich Family
Artists, Craftspeople, Farmers

Emil Holubowich married Genivieve Slawpic in Poland and they came to Canada in
1901. When they departed from their homeland they brought their three children with
them. Emil had been a skilled machinist in the Old Country and also farmed the land.
They decided on property in the Libau area. The children were able to attend school
at Libau East. Emil did some mixed farming, but there was not enough money in this
to support the family, so he was forced to leave the home and work in St. Boniface at
a brick plant. Emil lived a long life and passed away in his 88th year. Genivieve held
the home together, worked hard and was an excellent gardener and cook. She died at
age 98.

Son Marion was the artist in the family and his great gift and talent was discovered
early in life and recognized when he was attending the Libau East School. He went
on to study at the Manitoba Art School and attended the Minneapolis Institute of Art
in Minnesota to complete his education. Marion’s painting was in demand and he did
beautiful scenery as backdrops for stages and theatrical productions. Marion painted
a large scenery curtain for the Poplar Park Hall as well as the Ukrainian Society in
the south end of the municipality in Narol. He also did the murals for the Ukrainian
Labor Temple in Winnipeg, as well as several theatres including the Playhouse.

Daughter Stella was an excellent seamstress and worked at this trade for Genivieve
for many years. Fred was a machinist for the CPR. John (Kasimir) was the musician
in the family and his violin could be heard at schools, concerts, socials and
weddings. He loved to play a tune. John farmed with his parents and finally bought a
farm of his own, just east of his parent’s homestead, where he did mixed farming.
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Station Agent

J.J. Erskine was born in Ontario and very early on made railroading his career. He
came west in 1883 and worked on the eastern section of the CPR until 1887. That
year he was appointed to take charge of the East Selkirk CPR Station. He remained at
that post until December of 1900, at which time the CPR transferred him further
west. However, a largely-signed and strongly-worded petition was sent to the
Superintendent of the CPR and by April of 1901 he was once again returned to
supervise the East Selkirk area. The people on the east side were jubilant and a
“welcome home” party was in progress shortly after his arrival.

Mr. Erskine was a Mason and in the years 1891 and 1898 served as Worshipful
Master of the Lisgar Lodge. He was also an ardent curler and many a night you could
view his walking the three miles or so to the west side to take part in the games of
the Selkirk Curling Club. During his years in East Selkirk, it was thought that he was
a confirmed bachelor, and although he was very popular with the girls, he remained
single for the duration of his stay. No amount of urging on behalf of his friends
would make him give up his single bliss.

Then came the sad news in the winter of 1907 that the CPR actually was transferring
him out west to Saskatchewan. There were a number of farewell parties staged in his
honour. Then came a surprise announcement. Prior to his leaving Manitoba in early
January of 1908, Mr. Erskine had slipped away to Winnipeg, and married.

Mr. Erskine took charge of the Lanigan, Saskatchewan CPR station in 1908 and then
was transferred the next year to Guernsey, Saskatchewan. He kept up his
acquaintance with many of the East Selkirk people and during time off and vacation
often travelled here to visit and recall old times with his Manitoba friends. Then the
sad news reached East Selkirk that on September 20, 1915, Mr. Erskine had passed
away. His body was brought home by the CPR and with full Masonic rights he was
laid at rest in the Churchyard Cemetery of St. Andrews. When the old timers talk
about the CPR, they remember J.J. Erskine and his zeal for sports, his love of
railroading and his gentlemanly, humorous character.
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East Selkirk Station.

The Station Manager

For incoming settlers, the railway station played a major role in their experience of arrival. The
station offered them the first physical evidence, as they descended from the train, of the kind of
community they were entering. The impressive architectural statement the station itself made on
the open prairie provided a note of reassurance to the apprehensive, if not frightened,
immigrants. According to Archie Warren, a local historian in Tyndall, the station agent himself
had a definite social responsibility for these new arrivals. He and his family introduced the
newcomers to the rest of the townspeople and often found them accommodation.

Edward McMurchy.
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More RR Station Memories

Edward McMurchy

It was on April 26, 1883 that Edward
McMurchy and his wife Margaret and
their first child, Minnie, sailed from
Glasgow, Scotland for Canada. After
arriving in Quebec and getting his
affairs settled, the family came west to
East Selkirk. It was here that they
lived for a few years in the CPR
Section house, and Edward fulfilled
the duties of Section Foreman working
out of East Selkirk. Edward liked the
area and decided to look around for a
prime piece of property. Having saved
sufficient funds, he purchased some
land from a Mr. Smith. The land was
situated some four miles south of East
Selkirk in the community of Kirkness.
Finally, in about 1886, Edward made a
start on the building of a house for his
growing family. In the meantime,
Edward had got transferred from East
Selkirk to the Gonor Station and the
family made their home in the station
building proper. Edward used to walk
from the Gonor Station to Kirkness in
order to continue the building of his
new home. After about a year, Edward
and Margaret moved into their new
home, at Kirkness and Edward
continued to walk to and from work at
Gonor.



Farm Manager

James Oastler was born near Parry Sound, Ontario in 1871, his parents having immigrated
from Scotland the previous year. He attended the one-room schoolhouse near the farmstead
and later worked to put himself through the Ontario Agricultural College in Guelph. In 1897 he
graduated with a degree of B.S.A., winning two Silver Medals. He came west that fall to attend
the Manitoba Dairy School. For two years he was manager of the Crystal City Creamery; then
he became stockman on the farm of the Hon. Thomas Greenway of Crystal City for two years,
followed by the position of Livestock Manager at the Minnesota Experimental Station at
Crookston for three years.

In 1905 he became the manager of Sir William Van Horne’s farm in St. Andrews, New
Brunswick. There he met and married Susan Beatrice Andrews in 1908. In 1912 he was
transferred to East Selkirk, as manager of the Van Horne Farm here.

In 1924 he took up farming for himself on a section of land north of East Selkirk. James
Oastler was always deeply interested in agriculture. He joined the St. Andrews and St.
Clements Agricultural Society in 1913, was made Vice-President in 1927, and served as
President from 1928-1931. The Board of Directors interested the community in the plowing
matches, which alternated each year from one side of the Red River to the other, with the chief
prize being a gold watch donated by the T. Eaton Co.

The Selkirk Fair was the highlight of the year, and had originated in 1875 developing into the
showplace for the farmer’s horses, cattle and other animals, the vegetables, the baked goods
and preserves and the crafts and sewing, all preceded by a large parade. Mr. Oastler often
commented on the work and worry involved in transporting the show animals the many miles
and the crossing on the ferry before the advent of the truck and the bridge. He had a genuine
interest in the opportunity to inspire the youthful farmers in good farming techniques. Not only
was he interested in the advance of scientific knowledge concerning soil, weeds and good
farming techniques, but also in the community as a whole. This lover of the good black loam
of Manitoba died, aged 88, on November 3, 1959. His widow Beatrice then moved to Ottawa,
where daughters, Helen and Marguerite resided.
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Views of the Van Horne/Searle Farm complex. None

of these buildings stand today.
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A Huge Operation

The Van Horne/Searle Farm

The Van Horne/Searle Farm provided
employment for scores of people in St.
Clements, and the accounts in this project
attest to the importance of the farm. The
huge farm operation was inaugurated in the
late 1890s by Sir William Van Home,
President of the C P.R., and was turned
into an experimental farm for growing
wheat. In 1902, James Yule took over
management of the farm, and the decision
was then made to establish a herd of
Shorthorn cattle with a view to assisting
the livestock industry and give a lead in
diversified farm operations in the province
of Manitoba. Van Horne allowed Mr. Yule
to buy the best cattle he could find and
assemble a great herd, making a splendid
contribution to the Shorthorn breeding on
the prairies. In 1936-37 the Searle Family
took over the operations. Cattle also played
an important role at Searle Farms,
beginning with a registered Shorthorn herd.
The field operations were mainly geared to
forage production to supply the require-
ments of the beef and dairy cattle herds.
Approximately 2,200 acres were in alfalfa-
grass, 250 acres in corn and 200 or 300
acres in oats. The remaining land was used
for pasture.



Gordon Barron Burnett
Ferryman, Constable, Farming Advocate, Farmer

Gordon Barron Burnett was born on October 7, 1906, the son of John Burnett and Jessie
Veitch. Gordon lived in the Mayfield area of St. Clements most of his life and attended the
Mayfield School. In 1923, Gordon married Myrtle Young and they raised a family of four
daughters. Apart from farming, Gordon also operated the Selkirk Ferry for three years, and
served as a Constable for the Town of Selkirk Police Force for about 12 years. When his father
passed away in 1936, Gordon and Myrtle returned to the family farm and continued to operate
it up until 1979 when Gordon passed away.

Mpyrtle, the wife of Gordon, added to the attractive landscaping scene by the planting,
cultivation and care of flowering beds and borders. The begonias in the planter near the north
side patio were especially luxuriant each year as were the borders of petunias and marigolds. In
the year 1977 Gordon and Myrtle were presented with the “Birks Dingwall Cup Award” for
the “Best Farm Home Grounds in Manitoba.”

Gordon was involved with the Manitoba Pool Elevators and served on the local Board for over
30 years. He also was a breeder of registered Hereford cattle and travelled to the East, where
he showed his stock at the Toronto Royal Fair. Gordon purchased his first registered Hereford
cattle in 1944 and continued to sell breeding stock.

Gordon’s father, John Barron Burnett, had been active in municipal government, serving as
Councillor of Ward 3 from 1910-1915 inclusive. He was also elected Reeve in 1939, retiring in
1947. He made an outstanding contribution to municipal life in the district during those
difficult years. He ensured that many market roads were built for the farmers and was
instrumental in the introduction of electricity in the municipality.
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View of a typical ferry crossing in 1923. The first and most primitive ferries had long
paddles or poles. The second and most common method of powering a ferry was by
using a cable which was connected to both sides of the river. The ferryman pulled the
raft across the river along the cable, using a winch-type machine. It was common for
the local handyman and volunteers to build the ferry. Supplies were purchased with
the $200 government grant, but some municipalities later raised extra money to buy
ready-built ferries from major steel and engine companies. The platform for the ferries
usually comprised keel joists overlaid with several 4 x 8 foot wooden planks placed in
parallel sequences. Guardrails were also placed on the edges of the platform to
prevent people, goods, and vehicles from falling overboard. Aprons were attached to
the base platform; they were wooden planks reinforced from underneath with metal
hinges to raise or drop the planks on to the muddy banks for easy loading and
unloading. They also acted as guard rails on either end of the ferry.
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Ferries on the Red

In St. Clements, the ferry system was
crucial in the everyday activities of its
citizens, particularly for maintaining
communication and flow of goods and
services between West and East Selkirk.
These raft-resembling crafts were located
at numerous sites along St. Clements’s
western municipal boundary, the Red
River, moving people, goods, vehicles, and
animals to the other side. The major
function or advantage of a ferry was its
ability to transport heavier items, such as
horse-drawn wagons or herds of livestock.
The ferry provided a link between local
roads and highways which were divided by
rivers that were impossible to ford. By
allowing passage across the rivers, access
to services such as the local post office,
school, and church was readily available.
The local residents using the ferry could,
by paying a small fee of about 15-25 cents,
deliver livestock, produce, and grain to the
railroad or market without having to travel
a great distance to a fording site.



George Gowriluk
Market Garden Farmer

George Gowriluk was born on June 23, 1894 in Dobrenivtsi, Bukovina, Austria (Ukraine). He
came to Canada with his parents, John and Waselena in 1896. They settled in Gonor, where he
helped his father with farming. In September, 1914, he married Mary Koterla, the daughter of
Peter and Abtokia Koterla. She had arrived with her parents in 1902, at age of seven, from
Kitsman Bukovina, Austria. George and Mary made their home at Lot 205 St. Clements, where
eight sons and one daughter were born and grew up.

Lot 205 was ninety-nine feet wide and four miles long, forty-five acres, extending east from
the Red River. Some of the land was wild hay and willows. Mostly, it was bush, consisting of
birch, poplar, spruce, a few oaks, as well as saskatoon, chokecherry, pincherry, plum and
hazelnut trees. George Gowriluk cleared most of the land by hand, using an axe and grub hoe.
The spruce trees were hewn into logs with which a new home was built in 1926. Four horses,
pulling a fourteen-inch breaker plow, were used to break much of the land. The remainder was
later broken with a tractor.

Their chief source of income was from market gardening, with the help of the whole family.
Many long hours were spent in the fields with little remuneration because vegetables were
cheap during the Depression years. For example, potatoes sold at 35 cents for a 90 Ib. bag.
Farmers hauled their produce to Winnipeg with horses during the early 1930s, a four-hour trip
one way. The older sons sought to supplement the family income by picking cucumbers at
neighbouring gardeners for 75 cents a day and by working at harvest time for farmers
whenever there was spare time from their own work at home. In 1946, sons Alex, Matt and
John formed Midland Fruit Company Limited with meagre finances. Their warehouse was
located on the corner of Stella Avenue in Winnipeg. George Gowriluk, after selling most of his
farmland, began working proudly alongside his sons. He was in charge of the packaging of
fruit and vegetables, a position which he faithfully and efficiently fulfilled. Occasionally, he
was happy to drive a truckload of produce to Kenora or to Red Lake. After 28 years of
successful operation the business was sold to the Codville Food Distributors. George Gowriluk
passed away in 1973. Mary continued to live in their home at Lot 205 until 1975 when she
moved to the Holy Family Home in Winnipeg.
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The humble potato, easy to grow,
hardy, and also easily preserved, was a
godsend for pioneer farmers throughout
St. Clements — not only for their own
personal use but as a cash crop that
would be sent by the wagonload down
to outdoor Winnipeg markets. The
potato is native to South America, and
was only introduced to European
culture in the 16th century. It was
subsequently conveyed by European
mariners to territories and ports
throughout the world. The potato
became an important food staple and
field crop that played a major role in the
great population boom in 19th century
Europe.



More Market Garden Memories

Andrew Peterson

Andrew and Margaret Peterson had
twelve children, seven sons and five
daughters. Andrew worked at various
times for the R.M. of St. Clements in
the area of law enforcement. He was
one of the founders of the Manitoba
Vegetable and Potato Growers
Association. This association helped
organize the farmer’s market which
was located on Main Street in
Winnipeg for many years. Andrew also
did custom sawing of lumber and
wood in the Narol area. On March
16,1963, the community held an
“Andrew Peterson Day” as a tribute to
his many years of service. He received
a plaque in recognition of his work. He
died May 17, 1974. His wife,
Margaret, lived in her own home until
January 1983.
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Market Gardening Views: Top harvesting potatoes, below right picking beets and below
left of Winnipeg’s North End Market.
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More Market Garden Memories

Aniela Parfaniuk

Aniela Olexyn, was the eldest daughter of Wladislaw Olexyn. She married Kiryk Parfaniuk,
who had come to Canada as a young man of 18 years in 1894. Kiryk and Aniela had 12
children.

Aniela was a business woman who used to go with her son William to Beausejour for
chickens, eggs and butter, which they would sell in Winnipeg’s North-End markets. Although
they had a 1927 Ford truck, they still went with horses and sleigh in winter because often as
not, the roads were heavily drifted with snow and the sleigh would easily go over a big drift
and the load would not spill. Aniela made many trips to David’s market on Dufferin and King
Street where she was paid 25 cents or 35 cents for a stall and put the horses in David’s barns
for the day. You also brought your own hay. It was a terribly long ride into town, sitting in the
heat at the market all day, and then the long trip home. However, her children never heard their
mother complain. Aniela had a fast-running pony, one of the fastest horses, and no one could
drive him but Aniela. This was her favorite horse and she visited her parents at Lockport
driving this pony.

The log house at Lot 259 had two small rooms. The living room and bedroom was one room
and it had a baby’s home-made crib in it, an old Raymond sewing machine, a bed and a cast
iron heater, as you entered the kitchen. In the upstairs attic was where all the children slept.
That is where all the children were born. With the help of Mrs. Malazdrewich, the mid-wife,
the children were brought into the world. In the attic, the cooking onions were stored, loose,
under the beds for winter. There were no stairs to climb, just a ladder. The kitchen had a
homemade wooden table and chairs, a cast-iron stove and a few cooking pots and utensils.
There was a trap door leading to the clay dug-out that served as a basement. In the basement
the vegetables, jams and preserves were stored. This log house was plastered with clay and
sometimes the chinking and clay fell out and it had to be filled in again before winter set in.
The log building was white-washed inside and out at least once a year, usually in spring or in
the fall after all the work was done. There was no indoor plumbing, and so you either went out
to the barn or the outdoor toilet, regardless if it was 30 to 40 below zero or not.
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Images of local market garden activity;
top of a harvest of cabbages and
below picking potatoes.



More Market Garden Memories

Uskiw Family

The years 1937, ’38 and ’39 were very grim. It was the last part of the Great Depression which
began in 1930 and was ended by the Second World War which began in 1939. Most of our
production of grain, potatoes, hogs, poultry or milk products was sold for cash. Some of our Trucks finally made the laborious
production was consumed at home but the emphasis was to sell as much as possible for cash so

. work of picking and loading
that we could buy tea, coffee, sugar, flour, etc., and of course clothes and household furniture.

produce quicker and easier.

While farmers sold their cattle for $10-$15 per head and
potatoes for 10 cents per bag, Mr. Uskiw got 20 cents per
rabbit. The family grew about seven or eight acres of
potatoes, which Mrs. Uskiw and the children worked by
hand. Potatoes were a cash crop which yielded as little as
10 cents for a 100-pound bag. The potatoes were harvested
late in the fall, usually in October when they were matured.
They were stored outside in many piles of 100-200 bags to
apile. Pits were dug, about 10 inches deep and large enough
to hold 100-200 bags of potatoes piled about four feet high
above the ground. The potatoes were covered with about 12
inches of potato tops over which there was applied about a
10-inch cover of soil. The Uskiws were always careful to
leave a small opening at the top centre of the pile to allow
heat to escape in order to avoid overheating of the pile.
During cold winter days one could see steam billowing out
from each pile. In April these piles would be opened up, and
the potatoes bagged and marketed.
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Tailor, Farmer

Peter Pewarchuk and his wife Anna came to Canada from the Ukraine in 1902. They were one
of the first families to settle along the Red River in St. Clements, not far on the east side of the
river from Lower Fort Garry. With them came their son Michael, and his beautiful and kind
wife Mary. They brought their first-born child, Rosie.

Peter Pewarchuk and son Michael settled on a farm in Narol, Lot 258. They farmed together
for quite a few years. Peter and Anna had a very small house of their own on the same yard as
Michael and Mary. Peter later got a job as caretaker of the first Donald School. He loved to go
to church. He always helped the priest at the altar. Michael often led the singing of the hymns,
as he was the Cantor. This was the first Greek Orthodox Church, at one time called the Russian
Orthodox Church.

Peter and son Michael were really tailors. They used to sew lovely clothes for the children, and
even for others in the area. Before they came to Canada, Michael had worked as a butler for a
wealthy lord, and so was well-versed in types of fabrics and even of styles and fashion.

Peter Pewarchuk was often called “Shnarivech,” because he came from a village called
Shnarev. Anna was a midwife. She brought all her grandchildren into the world, as well as a
lot of other children in Narol. She also seemed to have a cure for many illnesses. When Peter
died, Anna went to live with Michael and Mary.

The Pewarchuks were a very proud family. Some of Michael’s children were very talented.
William and Steve were natural artists. William and John were musicians. William played the
violin and John played the banjo. They played in a band. All the rest of the family loved to
sing, and of course Leon would always yodel western songs, while doing daily farm chores.
The most memorable time was Ukrainian Christmas Eve. The whole family would all go to
Peter and Anna’s for supper, and enjoy all the lovely traditional food that Anna prepared. After
supper they would all sit around and drink cherry cider, and sing all those lovely Ukrainian
Christmas carols. Next morning all the older children would walk to church, no matter how
cold the weather was.
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Michael and Mary Pewarchuk



Making Your Own Clothes

In the early 21* century, it is received
wisdom that tailoring is often stiff in image
and form. A tailored jacket and trousers are
for the office or special occasions — a
wedding or a funeral. It is denim that is the
preferred material for the workplace. And
“off-the-rack” denim at that.

But in the latter decades of the 19" and
early years of the 20th century, workwear
was tailored. Men typically wore a tailored
jacket as much to dig roads as to file
accounts; archival images of pit workers—
begrimed with soot, leaving the colliery to
head home—are striking today for the fact
that they seem to show men in suits, albeit
battered ones.

And in this environment the need for a
good tailor was common — whether on a
fashionable high street in London, or at a
small-town Main street haberdasher, or
even in a farmhouse where a skilled
operator was ready with a sewing machine
and various measuring tapes and tools.

Top: A group of tailors. Below left: Young workmen ca. 1914, wearing wide-wale
corduroy trousers, chore jackets and caps made in various wool patterns. Below
right: A man at a sewing machine, ca. 1925.
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Diengot Recksiedler
Builder, Craftsman, Farmer

Diengot Recksiedler and Henrietta Yabush were born and raised near Wolhynien, Russia,
where they married and started their family. They came to Canada in the early 1900s and first
settled in Saskatchewan. They planted crops and suffered a loss when their crops froze. They
heard Manitoba was the place to go. Diengot built a wagon with a wooden cover. They loaded
their belongings and started for Manitoba. They settled in Greenbay, near Beausejour. They
had very little so they first lived in a root cellar type house.

Diengot was a handyman and craftsman. He built a sawmill, and built the family house from
the lumber produced at the mill. Diengot also built a windmill and was able to grind his own
flour and feed for cattle. He made needles from course pig hairs and wove the hairs together
with thread. He tanned leather and was able to make horse harnesses with the leather and the
needles that he had made.

Diengot also taught Sunday School in a Lutheran Church. There was only one minister for
three churches, so when the minister wasn’t at the church, Diengot filled in as a lay reader. He
read from the Bible and held the service. Many of the Recksiedler children, as adults, moved to
Jackfish Lake, near to Grand Marais, where they homesteaded, and continued their families.
They continued in the pulp business which Diengot, the grandfather, had started with his
family and his sawmill.
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A man holding the typical tools of the
carpentry trade.




This technical drawing of a barn under construction
suggests the technical ability that builders like Diengot
Recksiedler and Jacob Ozol would have brought to their
craft, with the results an enduring legacy.

Jacob and Dora
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More Builder Memories
Jacob Ozol

Jacob Osol was born in 1869, later
changing his last name to Ozol. He
immigrated to Canada in 1894. He
worked in a stone quarry in 1900 for
about two years. Jacob applied for a
homestead in 1905 and built a house, a
smithy, a root cellar and a well. In
1907, Jacob bought a quarter section
of land. In 1909, he married Dora
Shainook and raised a family of three
children. It has been noted that when
the CN Railway came through there
was a need for a name for its station
and also for the post office. Jacob
noted that the few people who lived
close by were mostly Latvian or
German, and as most of them left the
Old Country through the Russian Port
of Liepaja that the name should be the
Anglicized version of that word:
Libau. Besides his farming activity,
Mr. Ozol was well known as a
carpenter, and many of the buildings
be constructed are still to be seen in
the Libau area.



John Bunio
Mechanic, Bridge Builder

John Bunio, son of Michael and Katherine Bunio, who left Starawa, Moschiska, Galicia, in
April of 1903, settled on a farm east of Libau. In 1913, when the Bunio family moved to
Walkleyburg, John was only one year old. John lived on the farm for 53 years. He could speak
three languages.

Most of the pioneer houses were all hand-made from trimmed logs and wooden pegs.

Learning to drive was an experience John never forgot, although cars were scarce in those
days. John says, as a teenager, he bought a Model T Ford for $10.00.

There were no roads, so John got stuck in many mud holes, and fixed many tires. He got to be
the local handy taxi, with the only problem being that most people must have figured that his
car ran on air. John also learned to fix the car by himself. He has noted that some people
figured what he was doing was a waste of time, yet in later years when they had trouble with
their engines, they came to him for help.

In the fall of 1937, John talked to Mr. George Nolman (the local Minneapolis-Molina agent)
about buying a thresher. He agreed it was a good idea, although the company was leary of him,
as he did not have enough cash, but the agent disagreed. John bought the thresher, which they
hooked up to his new tractor and drove all night. When he went to pick up his used tractor, the
agent said, “Pay me when you have the money.”

In 1938, John bought a breaker plow and for the next five years, broke land. In 1941, he built a
home across from the old homeplace. From then on he did mostly carpenter work. In 1950,
after the flood, he got involved with bridge construction, and built and repaired many small
bridges throughout the municipality. In 1954, he got his first contract with the province, to
build bridges over the Brokenhead River, Hazel Creek, Netley Creek, Cook’s Creek, and many
more. In 1939, John married Annie Hladuik, and they had two children.
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A Day in the Life of a Mechanic

When automobiles became available just before the beginning of the 20th century, there were a
myriad of manufacturers making hand-fitted vehicles. Production runs were low and spare parts
difficult to obtain. For the early car owner, there were no auto repair businesses. If the owner
himself maintained their vehicles, they would seek out a bicycle mechanic, machinist, plumber
or blacksmith to repair or fabricate parts. Wealthier car owners employed chauffeur-mechanics

as servants who would drive and maintain their vehicles.

By the 1920s, motorized vehicles were commonplace and, as manufacturers like Ford used
standard interchangeable parts, it was possible for the vehicle repair industry to grow, either as
independent companies or as dealerships for a specific automotive maker. Mechanics were paid
by the hour or day and repairs were billed for the actual time taken.
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Repair shops with
good mechanics had
a big advantage, as
repairs were quicker
and therefore cheap-
er. Even within the
same shop which
mechanic was as-
signed to a job could
make a big dif-
ference in the cost.
To introduce some
stability to the mar-
ket, standard times
for set repair jobs
started to be used for
billing.

Besides his work as a mechanic (and

woodsman and thresher operator),
John Bunio built small bridges, as did
men in the

other entrepreneurial

municipality. This image shows the
bridge-building technology of the day,
used throughout St. Clements to build
small culvert-type bridges. Note the pile
to sink main vertical

driver used

supports.



John Rokosh

Roadman, Farmer

John Rokosh Sr. married Eva Tashekowski in Poland in the late 1800s. John Rokosh Sr. was in
the cavalry regiment in Poland during the Polish War. He was an expert horseman. They came
to Canada in the very early 1900s and settled in Libau. After a few years, they moved to East
Selkirk and settled on a farm. They had five children.

In the early years, there were little white houses on the property where Aboriginal families
lived. The Rokosh home was built very close to the creek and many Aboriginal families would
stop and buy cow’s milk. In return, the Aboriginals gave Eva Rokosh a beaded button bag,
moccasins and a little oblong roaster (which was burnt black as they must have roasted their
meat over open fires).

The Rokosh’s had three teams of working horses and a riding horse, named Minnie. John
Rokosh Sr. was often seen proudly riding his saddle horse to inspect his farm at the corner of
Colville Road and Highway 59. Minnie was a buggy horse in the summer, and a cutter horse in
the winter. John Rokosh Jr. recalls racing Minnie down Ferry Road and jumping, beautifully
clearing the wooden gate to their property. All the field work was done by the horses.

Custom work was done for different people such as plowing, seeding, hauling sheaves, and
hay, digging potatoes and bindering grain. John Rokosh Jr., and his brother, Bill, hauled gravel
for the roads with the horses in the winter, and graded these same roads during the summer.
They covered Libau, Lockport and East Selkirk. Many old-timers in the area recall picnics held
on the farm. There was fund-raising for the church, dancing on a platform and all the children
had their wedding receptions here. Beer was 10 cents a glass, as well as hot dogs. A Model A
Town Sedan was bought in 1930. In 1933, John Rokosh Jr. took his parents and Mrs.
Kologinski to Chicago to see the World’s Fair and to visit his brother, Mike, and wife, Sophie.
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Developing the Municipal Roads

An important issue in Council in the late 1930s was the question of acquiring road building
equipment. The municipality owned a small road patrol, powered by a track-type tractor. It was
inadequate and worn out. The power unit was replaced by a model “M” Formal tractor with the
front suspended within the frame of the patrol. Due to war-time restrictions on tires, the machine
operated for some time with steel wheels on which were installed angle-iron grips. Finally,
rubber tires were acquired on the grounds that the municipally-maintained roads were to
essential industry. Road construction was usually contracted out. Road repairs were usually done
by local farmers. This was a source of income, so competition was constant.

More Roadwork Memories

Peter Karandiuk was the son of John and Catherine Karandiuk who arrived in East
Selkirk in 1902. John and Catherine had five children, but only Peter, born in 1907,
survived past infancy. By 1924, roads were linking the various towns in the area and
their maintenance became the job of young Pete. He
and his team of horses were paid the princely sum
of 23¢ an hour for working on ditches and grading,
8¢ more than men working without horses. In 1936,
technology, in the form of a motorized grader,
arrived in the municipality. It was Pete Karandiuk’s
pride and joy, but it was a brutal machine to operate.
Pete had to stand on a metal cover directly over the
engine and burned his feet badly. But he was being
paid 35¢ an hour and usually worked 18-19 hours a
day. Pete serviced all the roads in the St. Clements
area and received several awards for maintaining
the best road in Manitoba, an 18 mile stretch of the
Henderson Highway between East Selkirk and St.
Paul.
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Top: A grader levelling a road bed.
Below: A work gang establishing the
roadway.



Agnes Monkman
Postmistress

After the death of his wife in 1890 Philip Monkman came to Scanterbury in 1904 from St.
Peters to take over the Post Office at Scanterbury. With him he brought his young family. His
youngest child at that time was Campbell (age 14) and the other son was Charlie Monkman.
There were three daughters Jessie, Isabella and Hattie.

Mail used to be brought in by horse and buggy in summer and horse and cutter in winter before
the railway was constructed. Philip would meet the train to pick up the mail bags, using horses
year-round. The mail was delivered those days once a week and the post office was about 1 2
miles from the train station.

In later years Philip’s daughter-in-law, Agnes, took over as post mistress and had that job for
over 35 years until her retirement in 1961 at which time she moved to Selkirk.

In the early years (before 1945) there was no highway through Scanterbury. The gravelled
municipal road ended at Poplar Park and from there on it was mud roads in the area. If it
rained, and it did plenty, and someone was travelling, they were sure to get mired down in the
mud and mostly always came to Campbell Monkman and he would hitch up his team and go
pull their car out of the mud and he would never take any money for doing that.

People looked forward to winter then because that was a busy time for the men and a time for
them to make money by hauling cord wood for which there was a great demand. Wood was an
important fuel in those days and in great demand by the people of Selkirk and Winnipeg. In
winter the roads were frozen and thus passable. Teams hauling wood were travelling
constantly. The wood was hauled to the train station, loaded onto boxcars and shipped to towns
and to Winnipeg.
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Postal Service in Canada

It was at St. John's, Newfoundland on August 3, 1527 that the first known letter was sent from
present-day Canada. Mail delivery within Canada first started in 1693 when the Portuguese-born
Pedro da Silva was paid to deliver mail between Quebec City and Montreal. Official postal
services began in 1775, under the control of the British Government up to 1851. The first postage
stamp (designed by Sir Sandford Fleming) went into circulation in Canada that same year. It was
not until 1867 when the newly formed Dominion of Canada created the Post Office Department
as a federal government department headed by a Cabinet minister, the Postmaster General of
Canada. The Act took effect April 1, 1868, providing uniform postal service throughout the
newly established country. Prior to rural mail delivery, many Canadians living outside major
cities and towns had little communication with the outside world. On 10 October 1908, the first
free rural mail delivery service was instituted in Canada. The extension of residential mail
! ‘=l delivery services to
/ all rural Canadian
residents was a
major achievement
for the Post Office
' Department.  For
many communities,
the local post office
was not only an
important place to
receive and send
letters and pack-
ages, it was also a
major site for social
interaction.
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More Postal Memories
Fred Fuller

Fredrick Charles Fuller was born in Kent,
England on October 17, 1884. By age
thirteen he was a restless young man and
took to the sea. Discouraged with navy life,
he left the service in Vancouver in 1909.
He made his way to a farm near Emerson
and worked there for a time. In Winnipeg
he took his driver’s test and received a
license to chauffeur. In 1914 he married
Catherine McGlinchey, born in Airdrie,
Scotland in 1890, who had come to Canada
at age 21. In 1930 the family moved to
East Selkirk to begin country living. He
planted a huge garden. In 1937, the
municipality of St. Clements approached
Fred to ask him if he would consider
running the post office out of his home
because there was such a need for one in
that area. He agreed, and on January 11,
1937, Andrew Zabogruski delivered the
first mail down from the post office in East
Selkirk. Catherine Fuller often commented
that in the winter Mr. Zabogruski delivered
by horse and sleigh and in summer, by
bike. It was seven miles that the man had
to make two times a week, on Tuesdays
and Fridays. Fred passed away October
1966, and Catherine passed away
September 1973.



Julius Block
Builder, Dairy Farmer

Julius Block was born on April 28, 1880. He left Russia, after his father died (Julius was only
16 years old at the time). Julius came to Canada and to Beausejour in 1902. He got a job at the
sandpit, which supplied sand for the local glass factory. Emilie Schwark was born on February
7, 1888, the daughter of Julius and Ernestine Schwark. They came to Canada in 1903, from
Volhynia, Russia. Julius and Emelie were married on December 25, 1904 in Zion Lutheran
Church in Beausejour. They lived there 10 years.

Next they moved to Thalberg, 24 miles north of Beausejour. They lived in six different spots,
and vacant shacks. Neighbours took them in and shared meat, milk, etc. Emilie sewed and did
laundry and helped in return for their kindness. Julius cut wood at 50¢ a cord, and cleared bush
to make land for $1.00 a day. The children attended Thalberg School and the Trinity Lutheran
Church which Julius helped to build.

Julius and his sons built many homes, barns and stores in the area. In 1922 Julius and sons
built their first home, a small 14 x 28, two-room house. Sawdust was used for insulation as it
was cozy and warm. From here the children attended School in Beaconia. Classes were held at
Klatt’s Store, later at the School No. 2162.

The Blocks also had a dairy business, delivering milk, ice, meat and vegetables every morning
at 8:00 during the summer, to cottage owners of the northeast side at the Gull Lake Resort.
From the homestead, they purchased a bigger farm, and moved there in 1939. They continued
to deliver milk from there. They did this over 20 years.

Julius and Emelie celebrated their 50th Anniversary in 1954. Julius died on September 12,

1958, at 78 years. Emelie died on October 22, 1968, at 80 years of age. Both are laid to rest in
the Thalberg Trinity Church Cemetery.
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The Dairy Farm

Although any mammal can produce milk, commercial dairy farms are typically one-
species enterprises. In developed countries, dairy farms typically consist of high
producing dairy cows. While cattle were domesticated as early as 11,000 years ago as
a food source and as beasts of burden, the earliest evidence of using domesticated cows
for dairy production is the seventh millennium B.C. - the early Neolithic era. Dairy
farming developed elsewhere in the world in subsequent centuries. In the 19th century
larger farms specialising in dairy alone emerged.

Centralized dairy farming developed around villages and cities, where residents were
unable to have cows of their own due to a lack of grazing land. Near the town, farmers
could make some extra money on the side by having additional animals and selling the
milk in town. The dairy farmers would fill barrels with milk in the morning and bring
it to market on a wagon. Until the late 19th century, the milking of the cow was done
by hand. In the United States, several large dairy operations existed in some
northeastern states and in the west, that involved as many as several hundred cows, but
an individual milker could not ®wewan L
be expected to milk more than “'M"“**"mm

a dozen cows a day. Smaller wop : e
operations predominated.

For most herds, milking took
place indoors twice a day, in a
barn with the cattle tied by the
neck with ropes or held in
place by stanchions. Feeding
could occur simultaneously
with milking in the barn,
although most dairy cattle
were pastured during the day
between milkings.
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More Dairy Farm Memories

Mary Ann Thomas

Mary Ann Thomas started selling milk
at Grand Beach in the early 1920s.
Around the middle of May she would
move her herd of 12 to 15 cows from
Stoney Point to Grand Marais along
the lake shore as there was no road.
This was a day’s journey. She would
drive down the streets with a horse and
buggy and holler “milk.” The campers
would hurry out with their containers,
and she would use a quarter measurer
to measure the milk from 10-gallon
cans. It sold for 5 cents a quart. By
1929 she was bottling the milk. In
1930 she moved her herd to Victoria
Beach. She would go as far as her son
Reuben’s place at Balsam Bay in one
day and carry on the next day. She
sold milk at Victoria Beach until 1935.
Mary Ann also had a grocery store at
Stoney Point, between the years 1925
and 1943.



Ada (Brooke) Rowley

Teacher

Ada Brooke was born in England in 1900, and was a teacher from 1920 to 1926 at Happy
Thought and Walkleyburg schools. Ada married Samuel Rowley in 1929.

Sam Rowley and Ada live in a lovely, cozy home at 321 Eveline Street in the town of Selkirk.
You can see the east side of the Red River from their front window, the Bridge and the Steam

Plant structure. Sam was the son of Alexander Butler Rowley and Margaret Anne Rowley. His
father had come to Canaday in the early 1880s and had been involved in the 1885 Rebellion.

In 1933/34, Sam started working on the brushing and clearing of the C.L.L. property. Sam
continued to work for C.LLL. when the plant opened for operation. He was their first Plant
Foreman, a job he was to continue for the next 30 years, retiring in 1965. Sam attended the
Kitchener School and recalls Mrs. Hail and Principal Stokes. As he outgrew Kitchener School,
he went across the river by boat and ferry every day to Selkirk, where he attended the Central
and Old High School. He completed his Grade 11. In winter he crossed the river on ice. It was
tricky crossing the ice during spring break-up and in the late fall and early winter.

Sam and Ada had one son, Cecil, who was educated in Selkirk and at the University of
Manitoba. He worked in Ottawa, Montreal and Toronto for the Dominion Patent Office.
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Happy Thought School, 1917-1989.
This very fine stone building was
designed by Winnipeg architect E.D.
Tuttle.

Poplar Park School and Teacherage,
built in 1913. This is an excellent
example of the kind of one-room school
setting in which most children in St.
Clements would have experienced.



A Day in the Life of a Teacher

A teacher’s duties in the late 1800s and early 1900s were many, varied and difficult. Many
teachers walked a mile or more to work every morning, and home in the evening through
farmer’s fields, herds of cows, rainstorms, or blizzards. Some had the luxury of riding horses for
lengthy distances. Upon arrival at school, the new teacher drew pails of drinking and washing
water from the well, then set them up just inside the front door of the school. If it was a cold
morning she would gather wood from the woodpile and start a fire. If it was hot she would see
to it to open the windows and door. She might sweep the floor and wipe off the rough-hewn
plank chairs and desks. She would check to make sure the “privies” or outhouses were tidy and
sanitary, and make sure that her black-laquered plywood blackboard was washed. Next, she dealt
with the arrival of her students, many of them immature and ignorant. The male students could
be much larger than she, and even older in years—and some resented being there at all, away
from farm work. There could be jeers and jibes,
truancy, and general disobedience. Many 19
century female teachers complained that teaching
was especially hard when “big boys” flirted, teased
or defied them. The curriculum usually included
reading, writing, basic arithmetic, a little
geography and history. Books were scarce and
teaching tools few. The texts often took the form of
moral tracts or primers of childish virtues and |
sometimes children were even asked to bring |
whatever books were at home, such as an almanac
or old textbooks. The blackboard proved essential |
as she printed and wrote lessons while students |
copied notes onto slates. Most students had to
furnish their own supplies including writing slates
and chalk. It would be some years before scribblers
and pencils came into use, and only when there was |
money to buy them. In rural schoolhouses, apart |
from overcrowding, practical solutions had to be =
sought to overcome darkness and poor ventilation.
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Emil Greening
Merchant

Emil Greening was born on September 4, 1880 in the Town of Janufka in the district of
Wolynien in Poland, which at that time was a province of Russia. Emil was of German
parentage and one of twelve children. The family arrived in Canada in the spring of 1900. Emil
got a job in Winnipeg building the huge chimney of the Royal Crown Soap Co. near Higgins
and Main Street.

In 1901 Emil decided to take a 160-acre homestead one mile east and one mile south of the
present Village of Libau. It cost him $10.00. In July of 1907 he married Bertha Ziegenhagen.
By September that year one room of the farmhouse was remodelled to serve as a kind of
“Store” and a business was started. To get his supplies he would hook up his yoke of oxen to a
sleigh with two cords of wood and in four hours he would be in Selkirk, 14 miles away, where
he would sell the wood and pick up the groceries, flour and feed that had been shipped to
Selkirk from Winnipeg for him. By midnight, mostly walking to keep warm, he would return
home. In March, 1912, with the help of several neighbours with teams of horses, the store and
home were loaded on sleighs and moved to Libau. He then commenced adding a big store and
warehouse to the old buildings. All this moving was done because the railway was building a
grade from Winnipeg to Grand Beach and it was coming through Libau. This meant no more
long oxen trips to Selkirk all winter long.

In 1914 the first train passed through Libau and shortly thereafter it became known as the
Canadian National. During the war years, with no controls or rationing, business in Libau
really flourished. Soon Libau was boasting six general stores, all buying cordwood, baled hay
and furs such as rat skins, mink, fox and wolf, mostly brought in by Aboriginal trappers.
Following the War came the Depression and so there wasn’t enough business for the six stores.
One cold winter night Knelman’s store burned down leaving only Shline, Petznick, Jourmal’s
the Libau Supply Co., and Greening’s. One year later Shline’s store burned down followed by
yet another fire at Libau Supply. After that, Jourmal’s closed shop. This left Greenings. Emil
was elected as Councillor for the Rural Municipality of St. Clements, representing Ward Six.
He also was the Postmaster for the Town of Libau for a good many years.
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A Day in the Life of a General Store

The small-town general store, also known as mercantiles and
emporiums, were an essential aspect of commercial activity
in small-town life, and saw their heyday in the period between
1880 and 1930. These establishments served the rural
populations of small towns and villages and the farmers in the
surrounding area. Besides selling dry goods, farming
equipment and other supplies, they sometimes also served as
the local post office, drugstore and undertaker. They were
also a popular meeting place for socializing and news
gathering. The storekeepers stocked their establishments with
merchandise procured from salesmen who represented
wholesale houses and manufacturers found in larger cities.
Merchandise selections were often large and varied, though
most of the items available for sale were those of necessity.
As people and businesses prospered in the economy during
the 1890s, more luxury items were introduced into the store
inventories. The expansion of the railroads, the advent of
mass production and technological advances such as the
refrigerated railcar to transport perishable foods all combined to escalate the national distribution
and variety of goods that were available in the stores. Most of the wall space in a general store
was taken up with shelving to store and display the merchandise; likewise the floors were
crowded with barrels, wooden boxes and crates. Store counters were good for holding display
cases for the smaller items, a coffee grinder, scales and a cash register. Many stores had a display
window or two in the front of the building. Cellars, basements and second floors were used for
storage of merchandise and displays. Food and consumables included coffee beans, spices,
baking powder, oatmeal, flour, sugar, tropical fruit, hard candy, eggs, milk, butter, local fruit
and vegetables, honey and molasses, crackers, cheese, syrup and dried beans, cigars and tobacco.
Dry goods included bolts of cloth, pins and needles, thread, ribbon, silk, buttons, collars,
undergarments, suspenders, dungarees, hats and shoes. Essential items such as rifles, pistols,
ammunition, lanterns, lamps, rope, crockery, pots and pans, cooking utensils and dishes, farm
and milking equipment and even coffins could be found. The apothecary sections of the stores
were well represented with a surprisingly large number of patent medicines, remedies, soaps and
toiletries and elixirs.
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John Machewski
Merchant

In 1911, the nephew of John and Ksanka Machewski, also named John, immigrated
from Horbkow, Austria to East Selkirk. His wife, Theodozia joined her husband
shortly after. John at times had to leave his wife to the task of looking after their
family while he went off to earn a living. He had worked at many different jobs —
clearing bushland, farming, and also working at the Van Horne Farm, and practically
any job that was available.

The couple took an interest in their community and in 1920 John was one of the
founding members of the Ukrainian Reading Society. He also held office for a
number of years. This society served to maintain the culture and tradition of the Old
Country, as well as assisting the newcomers to the culture and language of Canada.
During this time there was a great need for a place of worship, and he amongst a few
others were instrumental in establishing the Ukrainian Catholic Church, built in
1914.

Theodozia sadly passed away in 1922, at the age of 32. In 1924, John married Amelia
Ostopchuk. John and Amelia were well known in East Selkirk and served the village
well. In 1929, they opened the J] & E Machewski General Store. Times were difficult
then, and much of their transactions were done in bartering; during that era it seemed
to be a common practice. They both worked hard and were compassionate to others
less fortunate: Many a time the folk would gather at the store, first to get their
needed supplies, and then they would sit huddled near the box stove discussing
problems, current affairs, or just socializing. The original building is still in
existence although it has been renovated in recent years. At present it is called the
“Lighthouse.”
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Machewski’s General Store.



Morris Sharp

Merchant, Justice of the Peace

Morris (Scharfe) Sharp came to St. Clements around 1917 and opened a small general store,
which he operated for over thirty years. He married Rose Zelig on September 18, 1918 and
they came directly to East Selkirk to begin their future. Both Mr. and Mrs. Sharp were born in
Romania; Morris in Bessarabia, and Rose in Vilanu. Rose’s brother Isaac was a pioneer
participant in the North Winnipeg Farmer’s Market.

Mr. Sharp loved East Selkirk and Canada, because he never forgot how wonderful it was to
live in a free country. He found in this community people who judged a person on their merits
and ability. He was very proud of being elected during 1933 to 1939 inclusive as Reeve of St.
Clements. Early in the 1940s he was appointed Justice of the Peace, to arbitrate small claims.
His place of business was more than a shopping centre. At night, international politics, ills of
the world, medicine and all topics of the day were discussed late into the evening around a pot-
bellied stove.

During the day, as customers came in, if they were accompanied by children, the kids were
escorted to the candy bins to make their selections “on the house.” Few, if any, were refused
credit. Thousands of dollars were carried on the books. The family often questioned his rather
loose business dealings, to which he had one stock answer, “The money I came with from
Romania I still have," or “It will take me two more weeks to become a millionaire.”

A yearly summer ritual of his was to load all the children who wanted to go onto trucks and
send them to Winnipeg Beach to enjoy the rides and goodies of the day. In the early days of
the Great Depression many people were in jeopardy of losing their land and all their
possessions to the mortgage companies for non-payment. Many of these people were not
versed in the English language and chose Mr. Sharp to be their spokesman before the judge in
the city courts. He spoke nine languages, being extremely fluent in Polish and Ukrainian. In the
early 1930s Mr. Sharp became active in the purchasing and exporting of potatoes. What began
as a small sideline became a very lucrative business — and Mr. Sharp became known as the
“Potato King of Manitoba.”
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Views of Morris Sharp’s store (top)
and of Nick Nova at the gas pump
(below).



Mary Gunn

Nurse, Restaurateur

Mary Gunn was the daughter of John Gunn and Emma Garrioch and was born in the year
1864, one of eight children. She lived most all of her life on the Donald and John Gunn
property on Lot 163, on the east side of the Red River in the Gonor area.

Very early on in life Mary became interested in a nursing career. She graduated from the St.
Paul, Minnesota County Hospital School of Nursing in 1897. Mary was a very enterprising
young lady and put all her effort into the completion of projects. When the Locks were being
built at Lockport, Mary had a fairly large restaurant built on the east side to supply the needs of
the workers. She put out first-class meals and it wasn’t long until she and her partner, Omer
Upper, had built up a super reputation for supplying the “inner wants” of man. They operated
the business between them for several years. Omer used to cook on the boats and had worked
on the dredge at the mouth of the river and also at the St. Andrews Dam site, the year the
dredge came down to the rapids to assist in the dam channel.

Gunn’s restaurant was built like a large cottage. It had living quarters complete with two
bedrooms. The building had a large screen-enclosed verandah with tables and chairs where
patrons could eat in the fresh air, while viewing the busy activity of the Lockport Corner.
Inside was a large dining room with many more tables and chairs. Heat was supplied by a
wood stove, which also was used for cooking. Water was by pump and located outside the
cafe. Mary ran this business for many years. As time passed she used to lease it out to others.
In the early 1930s Jake Davis and his wife Mabel ran it for a few years. It was called the Davis
Restaurant then.

Mary remained single all her life. She was an enthusiastic individual who kept things humming
around the old Gunn homestead. She ruled with an iron hand and knew more about horses and
cattle than most of the men in the family. The running of and care of the Gunn homestead
mostly fell to Mary. Her nurse’s training kept her in demand and people came to rely on her
knowledge and help during troubled times. Mary made a lot of trips to many homes when the
call for help was relayed. Mary passed away in 1948 at the age of 84 years, and had led a most
useful and energetic life. Mary was laid to rest in the Gunn family plot at the Little Britain
Churchyard Cemetery.
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Mary Gunn in front of her East

Lockport house.



A view of Mary Gunn’s Lockport restaurant.

Fast Food - 1920s Style

The 1920s was an important decade because it marked
the birth of the modern restaurant industry, and an
emphasis on low-price, high-volume food service.
More people ate out than ever before. Famous pre-war
restaurants closed, while cafeterias, luncheonettes, and
tea rooms thrived. Female servers began to replace
men. While critics bemoaned the demise of fine dining,
the newborn industry and its patrons celebrated simple,
home-style, “American” fare. Sandwiches, soups,
hamburgers (for 15¢) and French fries were common
items on the menu.

More Restaurant Memories

Adeline Nowell

Adeline (Neuman) Nowell was born in
Volhynia, Russia, on July 14, 1894. In
1911, Adeline and the family travelled to
Liverpool, England, and sailed on the ship
Teutonic, and arrived in Portland, Maine.
On December. 8, 1911, they came by train
to Beausejour.

Adeline worked in Winnipeg and then she
married Jim Nowell. Jim went to the Army
during the Great War, and came back to
Canada after the war was over. Jim then
became a streetcar driver in Winnipeg.
Adeline worked in restaurants, and later in
1936, she opened up a small coffee shop in
Grand Marais known as Blondie’s Cafe.
Adeline operated this cafe until 1953.
Adeline remained living in Grand Marais
after Jim died. She celebrated her 89th
birthday in July 1983, and was well known
as “Blondie.”

Left: Adeline (“Blondie”)
Nowell, ca. 1915.



Rancher

Some three miles north of Lockport is the home of three generations of Schneiders. At one
time, their farm, with its two big red barns, the larger of which could hold 70 milk cows, was a
landmark on Henderson Highway. The barns have long since been torn down and the cows and
horses which used to enliven the scene have disappeared, another example of the changing
scene and life styles of the area. Only the original house remains though much altered through
two major expansions and several renovations.

In 1933 when Mr. Reinhard Schneider bought the farm and moved in with his wife Irmgard
and their daughters and son Hans, the house had no basement and was heated by means of a
woodstove in the middle of the living room. Before the Schneiders came, it was the home of
Harry and Anna Verheul who, at that time, managed the farm for the Sifton family of the
Winnipeg Free Press fame and who later moved to their own farm, a quarter of a mile south.

In 1933 and for many years thereafter, the Schneiders place was called “Glenarma Farm,” a
name which appeared in the pedigrees of the purebred Ayrshire cows which the Siftons raised
on the farm, along with their string of polo ponies and thoroughbreds. “Glenarma Farm”
originally had been part of the large land holdings of Judge Haney. It was he who had built the
house and barns and later sold the place to the Siftons. The Schneiders took over the farm with
the cows; some of the riding horses were also left behind by the former owners. This was the
height of the Depression of the 1930s, and there were not many buyers for thoroughbreds and
polo ponies, not even among the Sifton’s affluent friends. The Schneider children, of course,
were greatly pleased, and for many years afterwards enjoyed riding these fine animals. Another
favorable circumstance for the children was the fact that Kitchener School was just across the
road. It was a typical one-room school built in 1921 with a pot-bellied stove in the back and a
pump under a spreading elm tree in the front yard.

The Schneiders came to Canada in 1927 from Emmendingen in the Black Forest region of
Germany, together with some 100 other immigrants who settled around Little Britain in the
R.M. of St. Andrews. In 1983, Mr. Reinhard Schneider was 96 years old; his wife Irmgard was
91.
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The Sifton Horse Barn (above) was the grand
feature of “Glenarma Farm.” Its exceptional
size and impressive construction made it a
landmark in the St. Clements area. The barn
housed work horses but also the prized polo
ponies of the original owners — the Sifton
family of Winnipeg. The farm was also well
known for its herd of Ayreshire cattle (right),
whose brown and white colouring gave the
animals a regal appearance.
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Glenarma Farm Memories

The Verheuls

Harry Verheul, born on April 15, 1897,
was from Utrecht, the Netherlands. He
always had an interest in hunting and the
great outdoors, and this was the main
reason that brought him to Canada. In 1927
he married Anna Van Hartevelt. In 1926
Harry had moved to the “Glenarma Farm”
as the Manager. It was owned by Jack
Sifton, brother of Victor and Clifford. It
was a real show farm. They raised polo
ponies, Ayrshire cattle, angora rabbits and
had chickens. An Arabian stallion was
used to breed local horses for the low price
of ten dollars. When Jack Sifton died in
1933, Harry Verheul was forced to look for
a change of employment. He purchased
some land adjacent to the Sifton property,
and built his home there and expanded his
holdings to 304 acres. The famous
Winnipeg Free Press agricultural writer, E.
Cora Hind, often visited the farm and
wrote many articles about it. Harry
Verheul was a School Trustee at Kitchener
School for 23 years. He also served as a
Municipal Councillor in 1943 and 1945.



Clifford Sawchuk

Musician, Carpenter, Farmer

Clifford Sawchuk was born on August 18, 1894, the son of Paul and Alexandra Sawchuk in the
Parish of Tartakow, District of Sokol, which was ruled by Austria at that time. As a young lad,
Clifford Sawchuk arrived in Canada with his parents in 1904.

Paul and Alexandra, with the help of their son Clifford, built a home in East Selkirk, as Paul
was a carpenter by trade. Clifford went to work at an early age, due to his father’s illness, and
continued to support the family and supplement the family income during the difficult times.

Clifford was active in the community along with his parents. Soon he and his friends organized
an orchestra under the direction of Mr. Uhryniuk of Winnipeg. This was one of the first major
bands in the area and consisted of Clifford on the trombone, Michael on the saxophone, Fred
Kordalchuk on the coronet, Nick Kunitz on French horn, Fred and Bill Karanko who alternated
on drums, and finally, John Karanko who played violin. The orchestra organized dances and
concerts in the village to raise money to build a hall in East Selkirk.

Clifford Sawchuk held various positions on the hall committee and while President, held
Sunday night dances to help pay off the building debts. He was a charter member of the East
Selkirk Hall all his life. Clifford and his parents were instrumental, with many others in the
community, in building and raising the needed monies to furnish the St. Michaels Greek
Orthodox Church in East Selkirk. The Church was established in 1918.
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Swing Time

The 1920s and 1930s were the heyday for Big Band music, and the musically-inclined in St.
Clements were up to the challenge.

One of the earliest local bandmasters was Claude Macfie. He started his brass band in the late
1870s and in the early 1880s was playing to large crowds on both sides of the Red. Practices

were held in the Macfie homestead on the east side and people used to walk all the way from
Selkirk to join him. In winter they followed the river trail down and in summer they took the

ferry across. By 1884 they were playing to packed crowds in the surrounding area, at skating

carnivals, costume balls and other festive occasions.

The “Moonlight Orchestra” was formed in 1916 in Gonor School, where some of the boys
were making their violins from cigar boxes or apple crate boards. Bill Dubowits and George
Koterla decided to form an orchestra. George sold his bicycle and bought a used cornet for
$15. 00. Another boy, Harry Praznik, had a clarinet and the band began to practice in Bill’s
house. At that time some of the numbers they played were “Margie,” “Peggy O’Neil,” “Last
Nite on the Back Porch,” “Ramona,” “Barney Google,” “Yes, We Have No Bananas,” and
“Why Should I Cry Over You.” About 1918, Bill bought a tenor banjo and Harry bought a
tenor saxophone. Mike Dubowits played the drums. The band’s first dance job was in 1919
and they played at the Gonor Hall. Later on they played in surrounding districts at dances,
socials, weddings and at picnic grounds.

“The Sailors Orchestra” was formed in the 1930s, and played at local community halls, or at
their country homes. Dancing platforms usually were built, if the wedding reception took place
at the country home. Many was the time when the orchestra had to entertain the wedding
guests outdoors. The orchestra members wished they had three arms, two arms to master their
instruments, and one arm to wave off the mosquitos. The orchestra was usually paid $1.50 per
musician.
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The Sailors Orchestra.



Catherine Kolmatiski
Poultry Farmer

John and Xena Kolmatiski (who had come to Canada in 1892 from Husiatyn, Galicia, Austria
in what is now Western Ukraine) had six children: four sons and two daughters. One of these
was Michael. Mike was 19 years old when he came to Canada. In 1919, at the age of 21, he
married a 19-year old country school teacher, Catherine Stashyshyn. They were married at the
Ukrainian Catholic Church in Tyndall. Catherine was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Paul
Stashyshyn of Gonor.

Mike and Catherine, in the “Dirty 30s,” started with very little money. After clearing around
200 acres of bush land, they mixed-farmed and grew all types of grain. At first, they planted 30
acres of potatoes and as the years went on, they increased their acreage to 60 with the help of
their children.

Catherine’s main interest was in raising chickens and turkeys. She raised approximately 1,500
laying hens and 500 turkeys each year. Mike had a contract with the “Kenora,” a boat now
located in the Selkirk Marine Museum, for every Monday morning for a delivery of 95-110
pounds of broilers. They also had a contract with the Marlborough Hotel about one week
before Christmas each year to deliver and dress about 450 to 500 turkeys. They also held a
contract with the Selkirk Mental Hospital to deliver 75 dozen fresh eggs every Saturday.

The Kolmatiskis, along with Mr. Robert Sharp, General Merchant, East Selkirk, made their

living income from buying any and all available poultry and livestock in the area. Mike and
Mr. Sharp had a potato contract with “Proctor and Gamble” at Fort William, Ontario.
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John Chorney

Volunteer, Farm Activist, Farmer

John Chorney was born in Belzec, Poland on May 5, 1883, the eldest of the eight children of
Michael and Anna Chorney. In the spring of 1903 John, with the money he had saved, bought
a ticket to go to Canada. He worked in Winnipeg building roads with horses and scrapers.
Within one year he had saved enough money to purchase property in the Sandihill area. On
January 22, 1907 John married Nellie Teichman who had come from Lubaczowa, Poland in
1904 at the age of 18. They built their first home. Three years later John sold the farm to his
brother Peter and moved to Brokenhead. Here they lived until October, 1918, when they
purchased a farm in Walkleyburg.

In 1932-1933 grasshoppers destroyed the farm crops. John cut hay in the Libau Marsh to
provide feed for his cattle and horses. To eke out his income he built roads and three bridges
for the R.M. of St. Clements. During the Depression John baled straw and shipped it to
Saskatchewan by the carload. By 1934 the family farm had grown to 2,300 cultivated acres.
This was worked with one Hartt-Parr tractor, 40 work horses and 10 hired men. John provided
purebred sires for Percheron horses and Shorthorn cattle for his farm and farmers in the
community.

The Chorneys were active in the community. John helped build the St. Stanislaus Roman
Catholic Church. He was a director of the St. Andrews and St. Clements Agricultural Society
for many years and was very active in organizing the Manitoba Wheat Pool. During the war he
sold victory bonds with Jim Nelson. John and Nellie retired in 1946 when John got ill and
moved to Selkirk. Here John died on July 10, 1947. Nellie lived alone in Selkirk until her death
on October 20, 1966. Both are buried in the East Selkirk Roman Catholic Cemetery

John and Anna Chorney.
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George Koterla
Photographer, Restaurateur

Peter and Eudokia Koterla immigrated from the Ukraine and entered Halifax in March 1903
with their three children, and finally settled on a farm in Gonor. At the age of 14 their son
George decided to quit school and go to work. He went to Hyas, Saskatchewan, to work in a
general store. But he got homesick, and came home to Gonor, along with some money, clothes
and a copy of a Stradivarius violin.

In 1919 George Koterla formed a four-piece orchestra with Bill Dubowits on violin, Mike
Dubowits on drums, Harry Praznik on clarinet and tenor saxophone and Mr. Koterla on cornet.
It was called the Moonlight Orchestra, and they played in and around Gonor, Narol, Rosedale,
at weddings, socials and picnics until 1924.

In 1926, George went to Detroit, Michigan, working at the Chevrolet Division as a tool
grinder. In 1927, he operated a photo studio in Detroit. In July 1929, he returned to Gonor and
married Mary Fegol of Narol.

They went to Grand Beach and started the first photo developing business in Grand
Beach/Grand Marais. George built a shop that was 10 x 4 feet of rough local lumber which
cost about $20.00. This was for the photo shop. Two years later he built a lunch room which
was named George’s Fish and Chips. He also built the first drug store in Grand Marais, and
rented it out to Henry Pasco. A few years later George bought two more lots with business
buildings on them. One building was operated by Harry Blake-Knox as the first movie theatre
in Grand Marais. The second building was a grocery store and the third building was a barber
shop and sleeping quarters.

The Koterlas eventually quit the film developing business and only operated the restaurant,

George’s Fish and Chips. In 1944, they bought a river lot in Gonor. They built a new house
and in two years it was all paid for. George went into the washing machine business.
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A Day in the Life of a Photo Studio

By the time George Koterla was involved the photography business at Grand Beach, in the 1920s
and 30s, the processes and technologies of cameras had evolved at a rapid pace. Experiments
with photographic practice had been undertaken through the 17" and early 18™ centuries. In the
1830s, Frenchman Louis Daguerre was developing camera images directly onto a mirror-like
silver-surfaced plate that had been fumed with iodine vapour, which reacted with the silver to
form a coating of silver iodide. The result appeared as a positive when it was suitably lit and
viewed. Exposure times were still quite long until Daguerre made the pivotal discovery that an
invisibly slight image produced on such a plate by a much shorter exposure could be "developed"
to full visibility by mercury fumes. This brought the required exposure time down to a few
minutes under optimum conditions. The so-called “daguerreotype” proved popular in response
to the demand for portraiture that emerged during the late 1800s. In 1888 the Kodak Film
Company introduced the first box camera, which simplified photography and allowed for more
amateurs to take up the hobby. And then in 1900 Kodak began selling its famous “Brownie”
camera for just $1.00, and a revolution in photography was underway.

But many people still preferred a professional at
the helm of the camera, and so around the turn of
the 20™ century a whole “industry” of photo
studios sprang up. These studios were often
located on the top floor of a building and had huge
glass roofs or windows to allow for plenty of
daylight. In order to take a photograph, the
lighting conditions had to be perfect and
obviously there was no artificial light at this time
to help out. Every studio had a darkroom, as the
meticulous preparation of the silver-coated copper
plates required complete darkness when treated
with chemicals to render the plates sensitive to
light. The studio space was also a means for the
photographer to present his work. Portraits of
politicians and other important people were often
displayed on the walls and served as a sort of
portfolio.
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Views of an old photo studio. Above, of

the photographer’s office and supply
area; and below of the portrait area —
often hung with curtains and panoramic
backdrops.



Mabel Davis
Bus Driver

When Mabel Donald was scarcely 15 years old, she influenced her father, George
Donald, busman and boatman in Lockport, to teach her the art of driving his bus. She
was already accomplished at handling the reins of the horse-drawn bus, which was a
carriage body, enclosed, seating about 15 people and driven by a team of matched
sorrels. However, Mabel was more ambitious, she was determined to conquer the art
of the motor vehicle and received instructions from a gentleman her father brought
out from Winnipeg. Shortly afterwards she received her chauffeurs license.

By her 16" birthday, Mabel was able to drive any motor vehicle she tried her hand at,
and was the pride of her father who no doubt wondered where this ambition of his
only child was heading. Since 1913, when the Lockport Bridge had been transformed
with approaches and road way, Mr. Donald had been crossing and carrying
passengers with his team. With much urging and enthusiasm from Mabel, her father
had contracted to have a new bus built. When Mabel got behind the wheel of the new
bus, early in 1917, it was the “pride of her life” and she was to continue her daily
runs every year until the bus was retired in 1931.

The fare to ride the bus remained the same from 1917 to 1931 being 25¢ for a return
trip and 15¢ one way. The route was from the Lockport Station of the W.S. & L.W.
Railway to the east side of the river in the R.M. of St. Clements. Mabel says most of
her passengers, apart from the tourists enjoying the summer outings at Lockport,
were mostly all from the east side, wanting to connect with the electric railway.

The bus frame was steel and the wheels had iron rims with wooden spokes and solid
rubber tires. The upper portion was a wooden frame with roll-up brown canvas
curtains, like awnings, that were tied down by straps when the weather was
inclement. The bus held 21 passengers, 10 on each side, and one could also sit with
the driver. The entry and exit on the bus were from a single door at the back. Mabel
married Jake Davis in 1922, a union of love and dedication that lasted almost 60
years. Jake passed away on New Years Eve, December 31, 1981 at the age of 84
years.
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Mabel Davis was very patriotic and this
showed up in the choice of her uniform;
which was khaki. Mabel designed it
herself and had seven made - one for
every day of the week. It was of post
World War | style of tight, knee length
knickers, shiny silk stockings, long
tunic jacket and a cloche hat.
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More Bus Memories

As time progressed, George Donald
moved with the times and converted
his bus, bringing about greater safety
regulations and comfort for the
passengers. He had the solid rubber
tires changed using new inner tubes.
Two new doors were added, one on
each side, made of black oil cloth with
mica windows. Above the two large
headlights at the front of the bus were
two small coal oil lamps that were
lighted up when parked at night, a
familiar sight for weary travellers
returning home from a night on the
town.

Mabel remembers carrying many
interesting passengers, and one time
early in her bus driving career, she
recalls two women especially. They
were from Washington, D.C., and had
heard of Mabel and her fame as
“Canada’s first lady bus driver.” They
made the trip to Canada to especially
talk to her. They offered her a job as
their chauffer to drive them around
Washington. She would have three,
shiny steel limousines at her disposal,
room and board provided and a very
handsome salary. But her parents,
George and Catherine Donald, advised
that “you are our only child: No way.”



Joseph Blackner
Hotel Owner, Dairy Farmer

Joseph Blackner came to Canada from Austria in 1907, and Regina Blackner came
about two years later with their first born son, John. Mr. Blackner worked at odd jobs
such as hauling bricks for 10¢ an hour, and also did carpentry work. They lived in a
two-storey house in Winnipeg, where three daughters and another son were born.
About 10 years later Joseph acquired some land known as Lot 9, Old Kildonan. On
these acres they built a home, barns, milk house and chicken house. Here, another
three daughters were born.

With hard work this developed into a dairy farm known as “Sun Dial Dairy,” with
about 25 to 30 cows. Milk was delivered to Winnipeg. In 1922, Mr. Blackner built
the Lloyd George School on McPhillips Street. in Old Kildonan.

In 1927, he built the Star Hotel in East Selkirk, which officially opened in 1928. He
hired Mike Sul as barman, and Mrs. Blackner did all the cooking for the restaurant.
There were 12 rooms upstairs; one of which Miss May Kenny rented. She was a
teacher at the Happy Thought School. There was a pool room in the back part of the
hotel, which held four big pool tables.

Then came the hard times, the “Dirty 30s.” Beer sold at 10¢ a glass, but few
customers could even afford that. Joseph came off the farm to replace Mike Sul as
barman and the four younger children also came to East Selkirk and attended Happy
Thought School. This is where they learned to swim in the little muddy creek beside
the St. Clements Council office, and where Joseph did his skinny-dipping after the
hotel closed for the night.

Joseph Blackner passed away on July 1, 1948, and Regina Blackner passed away on

August 10, 1973. They were blessed with eight children, 21 grandchildren and 25
great-grandchildren.
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Joseph and Regina Blackner in front of
the Star Hotel.



A Day in the Life of a Small-Town Hotel

Running a small-town Manitoba hotel in the early 1900s
was hard work. The hotel staff usually consisted of at /// /ﬁ//
least two chambermaids and a cook who worked from e i
morning till night, cleaning the guest rooms, doing the / R
laundry, and washing dishes. The maid's work day iy
usually started at 6:00 a.m. and ended at 9:00 p.m. for 7% Z

which she was paid $10 per month, plus room and board.
Porters not only assisted hotel guests with their luggage;
they also washed dishes, milked the cows that supplied
the milk for the hotel and did all the odd jobs. The upstairs
maid also polished the silver and glassware and kept
everything shining. All members of the hotel owner’s
family had to share in the work of running the hotel. “One
of'the duties of the kids was to help with the housekeeping
and at noon you had to take your turn at washing the
dishes before going back to school. My sister, Irma,
served as a waitress in the dining room when she was
barely taller than the table tops.” “The years in the Hotel
were busy ones for all of the family. It was the boys’ job
to fire the wood-burning furnace. This meant rising about
three a.m. and again at six to stoke the furnace. ... We were responsible for bringing in blocks
of ice and snow to melt for the daily wash. ... We hauled our drinking water from the town
well.” Wash days — usually Mondays — were an ordeal, especially in winter. Washing bedding
and clothes was often a two-day proposition. Water had to be hauled and then heated in tubs the
night before. Start-up time was set for five or six a.m. and the laundry process quite often ran
into the afternoon. The next day, one of the maids would run the clothes and sheets through a
mangle, a machine used to wring water out of wet laundry. Most hotels did not get running water
until the 1940s or 1950s, so water had to be hauled from a well in the summer. In the winter,
hotels used melted ice and snow, or water that had been collected in rain barrels during the
previous summer.” © Joan Champ, 2011
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Lieutenant-Colonel Sullivan
Lawyer, Hunter, Conservationist

Lieutenant-Colonel Arthur Sullivan was born at Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island
on September 3, 1881. He was the son of Sir William Wilfred Sullivan, who was
Premier and Attorney General of P.E.I. and later became Chief Justice of the
Province for 30 years. Arthur was called to the Bar of P.E.I. in 1904 and the Bar of
Manitoba in 1905.

He joined the C.E.F. as lieutenant and served in France and Belgium during the First
World War. Arthur married Miss Fraser Moffat of Winnipeg, in 1907, and they had
two daughters. Colonel Sullivan became Senior Partner of the law firm of Sullivan
and Turner. He was also Director of the North American Wildlife Foundation.
Colonel Sullivan was a big man physically, being over 6 feet tall and weighing about
200 pounds. His hair was snow white since the First World War. Apart from his
involvement with his vocation, community and business interests, Colonel Sullivan
had another passion, that of naturalist and botanist. He fell in love with the Libau
Marsh area when he was but a young man, and spent almost half a century studying
and cultivating it.

Colonel Arthur Sullivan had a hunting lodge (35 acres) originally and jointly owned
by the Honorable Bob Rogers of Winnipeg (Rogers was a major political figure at the
provincial and federal scene). The Lodge was located seven miles north of Libau and
1 %2 miles from Whittles Point. Col. Sullivan first started hunting out in the Libau
Marsh probably in the late 20s and early 30s, and he soon discovered the pleasure,
beauty and solitude of this part of Manitoba that he came to love greatly. Col.
Sullivan’s first lodge burned, but he soon had a fine lodge built to replace the burnt
one. You will note the enclosed screened porch, which was both front and back, plus
look-out tower. It had an underground cistern whereby the rain water was stored and
thus provided running water by hand-pump in the kitchen. This cistern was made of
galvanized metal with a capacity of 1,000 gals. and never seemed to run dry. The
lodge consisted of two bedrooms (12x12) a living room (20x26), and a large kitchen.
He also had his own power and battery system (powered by windmill) and thus stored
power by battery.
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Views of Col. Sullivan’s Libau-area hunting lodge.
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More Memories

Col. Sullivan’s living room had eight
windows so he could view ducks from
almost every direction, see the sun
come up, and the beauty of the sun
setting. The foundation for the main
lodge was made of fieldstone and was
seven feet high and about 24” thick.
This also besides providing for cistern,
furnace etc., also housed his vehicles
as well as underground garage. During
the dry years, Col. Sullivan arranged
to have a road built from Whittles
Point, going east across the marsh to
his property, a distance of about 1 %
mile. From the edge of the road to his
property, he built a fieldstone road to
the lodge door.

In about 1938, he started banding
ducks, which was to prove to be one of
his most enjoyable hobbies. He soon
built a duck-banding trap where he
pursued his life long interest.

Col. Sullivan lived to be 77 years of
age and died on October 21, 1957. His
last trip to the Libau Marsh was during
1956 where he travelled, in spite of his
illness, to the area he had come to love
with a passion. Before he died he sold
his lodge to Mr. Maytag of the United
States.



